
 

 

Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454  

e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 

 

Committee - CABINET 

 

Date & Time - Tuesday, 19 February 2013 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding 

 
 

Membership of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader of the Council), C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the 
Council), P S Przyszlak (Deputy Leader), M G Chandler, R Gambba-Jones, H R Johnson, 
C J Lawton, G J Taylor. 
  
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 4. 
 

Note:  Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.   
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

 
 
Member Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   11 February 2013 
 



A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 15 January 2013 (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
1 - 10) 

3.  Declarations of Interest. - (Members are no longer required to declare 
personal of prejudicial interests but are to declare any new Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests that are not currently included in their Register of 
Interests. 
 
Members are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not to 
participate in the whole of an agenda item to which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  In the interests of transparency, 
members may also wish to declare any other interests that they have, in 
relation to an agenda item, that supports the Nolan principles detailed 
within the Code of Conduct.)    
 

 

4.  Questions raised by the public under Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4.  
 

 

5.  To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.  
 

 

6.  To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.  
 

 

a)    Final Report of the Community Transport Task Group - To report 
on the recommendations of the Policy Development Panel on 
work undertaken by the Community Transport Task Group (report 
of the Community Transport Task Group enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
11 - 20) 

b)    Interim Report of the Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland 
Task Group - To report on the recommendations of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on work undertaken by the 
Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland Task Group (report of the 
Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland Task Group enclosed).  
 

(Pages 
21 - 30) 

7.  General Fund Estimates, Financial Medium Term Plan, Capital Strategy 
and Treasury Management Strategy Statement - To consider the 
General Fund revenue and capital estimates and the Financial Medium 
Term Plan, the Capital Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement prior to formal adoption by Council (report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services and the Assistant 
Director, Finance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
31 - 
104) 

8.  Quarterly Finance Report (Quarter 3) - To approve recommendations 
(report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic 
Services and the Assistant Director Finance enclosed). 
 
 

(Pages 
105 - 
118) 



9.  Write Offs - To recommend writing off irrecoverable debts.  (Joint report 
of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services 
and the Assistant Director Finance (S151) enclosed.)  (Please note that 
the appendices associated with this report are not for publication 
by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 
(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual) 
and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government 
Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda as item 12.) 
 

(Pages 
119 - 
122) 

10.  Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -  
 
Note:  (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 
(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 

be dealt with in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16 of 
the Constitution’s Access to Information Procedure 
Rules. 

 

 

11.  To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

 

12.  Write Offs - Appendix (Enclosed) (Pages 
123 - 
130) 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 37 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 15 January 2013 at 6.30 pm. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
C N Worth (Deputy Leader, in the Chair) 

 
P S Przyszlak 
M G Chandler 
 

R Gambba-Jones 
H R Johnson 
 

C J Lawton 
G J Taylor 
 

Junior Portfolio Holders:  
 

R Grocock and A R Woolf 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G A Porter, 
together with   Chief Executive 
 
In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman Performance Monitoring Panel) and 
Councillor A M Newton (Independent Group Leader), the Deputy Chief Executive, the 
Assistant Director Democratic Services, the Assistant Director Finance (151), the  
Assistant Director Commissioning, the Interim Environmental Services Manager, the  
Revenues & Benefits Manager, the Public Protection Manager, the Environmental 
Protection Manager, the Planning Manager, the Housing Manager, the Property 
Asset Manager and the Member Services Officer. 
 
Community Representatives:  Reginald William George Boot (Parish Councils), Harry 
Drury (Chamber of Commerce) and Jim Tyner (Lincolnshire Police) 
 
 

47. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2012 were signed by the Leader 
as a correct record. 
 

48. MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 
No interests were declared. 
 

49. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER CABINET PROCEDURE RULE 
2.4.  
 
In accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4, the following question was asked: 
 
With regard to proposed plans by Peterborough Renewable Energy Ltd (PREL) for a 
Biomass Gasifier/Incinerator to be built in Sutton Bridge, could the Cabinet address 
concerns over the type of fuel to be burned? 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council advised that questions could only be put to 
Cabinet where it would make decisions on the issues.  This question related to a 
planning application which would be determined by the Planning Committee and was 
therefore not a Cabinet function. 
 

Agenda Item 2.

Page 1



- 38 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

The Planning Manager advised that he had spoken to Mr Lay and Mr Titmarsh prior 
to the Cabinet meeting and had advised that the planning application was a current, 
live application and that the Planning Team would be happy to consider any 
questions and issues they may have.    
 

50. MATTERS SUBJECT TO CALL-IN  
 
There were no matters subject to call-in. 
 

51. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING PANELS  
 
Budget Scrutiny 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director Democratic Services 
and the Chairman of the Performance Monitoring Panel which reported on 
recommendations made at the joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel 
and the Policy Development Panel with regard to Budget Scrutiny. 
 
At the meeting, members had discussed a number of areas with officers, which 
resulted in the following decisions: 
 

• That the Panel request that the proposed increase in car parking charges not 
proceed; and 

• That, as a matter of priority, the Authority commence consideration of how to deal 
with future budget shortfalls, in line with the suggestions made by the Business 
Development Manager. 

 
The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic 
Services stated that where the Panels had suggested that income streams be cut, 
future recommendations should provide ideas as to where the shortfall could be met.  
He also advised that, with regard to car parks, the introduction of the Civilian Parking 
Enforcement may increase car park usage which could have an effect on any future 
charging considerations. 
 
With regard to the recommendation on future budget shortfalls, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council and Portfolio Holder for Localism and Big Society agreed that future 
budgeting had to be looked at as there would be intensive pressure on the Council’s 
finances over a number of years.  The Chairman of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel added that some unpopular decisions may be required, but despite that, the 
Council should be open with the public.  
 
DECISION: 
 
That the Cabinet consider the recommendations made at the annual Budget Scrutiny 
meeting when agreeing the proposed budget. 
 
 
 

Page 2



- 39 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

(Other options considered: 

• To accept and take forward some or none of the recommendations made at the 
joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring and Policy Development Panels. 

Reasons for decision: 

• The Performance Monitoring and Policy Development Panels, as part of their 
scrutiny of the budget, had raised the issues as areas of concern in respect of the 
Budget for the forthcoming year and for future years.) 

 
52. REFUSE AND RECYCLING EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENTS AND RISK 

MITIGATION MEASURES  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Waste Management, 
Green Spaces and Operational Planning and the Director of Commissioning which 
sought approval for implementation of a number of measures and actions designed 
to achieve efficiencies in the refuse and recycling collections service and mitigate 
against existing and potential risks the Council was currently exposed to. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Waste Management, Green Spaces and Operational 
Planning advised that the main issues to be addressed were regarding pay 
equalisation and Health and Safety issues.  He also suggested that if members 
wished to ask any questions or required any clarity on issues raised within the report, 
that they be raised immediately, prior to its consideration at full Council.    
 
RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL: 
 
a) That, as from 1 June 2013, the number of refuse and recycling collection rounds 

be reduced from 13 to 12; 
 
b) That Bank Holiday Monday collections no longer be brought forward to the 

Saturday prior to the Bank Holiday but that collections due in that week were 
slipped a day.  The revised arrangements to commence 1 June 2013; 

 
c) That the health and safety risks presented at the depot by the movement of 

vehicles be addressed by: - 
 

1. Either securing suitable temporary parking arrangements in the vicinity of the 
West Marsh Road depot or, if these were not obtainable, moving 6 of the 
refuse and recycling collection vehicles and their associated workforce to 
Holbeach depot and undertaking the following improvements to that depot: 
 
(i) Bollards and speed humps together with some resurfacing; 
(ii) Asbestos removal; and 
(iii) Internal office modifications/refurbishment and decoration. 

 
2. Undertaking Improvement works at the West Marsh Road depot including: 

 
(i) Automatic barrier entry gate; 
(ii) Pedestrian barriers; and 
(iii) Line painting, ancillary marking and signage. 

Page 3



- 40 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

 
d) That the: 
 

(i) Staff pay and conditions be equalised in line with the report;  
(ii) Head of Paid Service negotiate the details; and  
(iii) Pay protection period be extended until parity was achieved.  

 
 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing.  Given the health and safety hazards, and the potential equal pay 
claims,  explained in the report, the ‘Do nothing’ option would carry significant 
risks for the Council; 

• To proceed with all or most of the proposals except the changes to Bank Holiday 
Monday collections.  This would result in further staff and vehicle costs having to 
be employed and therefore the estimated cost reductions detailed in the report not 
being realised; and 

• To proceed with all or most of the proposals except the equalisation of the pay 
and conditions.  The inequity amongst the workforce and potential for equal pay 
claims would remain but financial savings from the round reductions in 2014/15 
on-wards would accrue to the Council. 

Reasons for decision: 

• To provide for improved efficiencies in the refuse and recycling collections service 
and mitigate against existing and potential risks the Council was currently 
exposed to.) 

 
(The Interim Environmental Services Manager left the meeting at 6.48 pm, following 
discussion of the above item.) 
 

53. Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Internal Services 
Performance and Business Development and the Assistant Director Democratic 
Services, which provided members with a report on the Performance of the Council 
and the Priorities set out in the Corporate Plan 2011 – 2015. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Internal Services, Performance and Business Development 
advised that a Programme Board had been established which would challenge 
reasons why criteria was not met and would assist in finding solutions to address the 
situation.  Relevant Managers and Portfolio Holders would be included in the 
Programme Board where their areas were not meeting the criteria. 
 
The Chairman of the Performance Monitoring Panel advised that the Panel had also 
considered the Performance Report and attention had been drawn to Lincolnshire 
Procurement’s good performance.  As a large part of this performance was due to a 
new contract, it should be clarified where the majority of the work had been 
undertaken to ensure that the improvement was correctly attributed. The Portfolio 
Holder for Waste Management, Green Spaces and Operational Planning advised that 
the contract related to refuse disposal, and that the procurement of the contract had 

Page 4



- 41 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

been undertaken largely by the Authority, with some assistance from Procurement 
Lincolnshire.    
 
DECISION: 
 
That the report and appendices be noted. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendations with amendments; and 

• Not to approve the recommendations. 
Reasons for decision: 

• To provide a flexible platform for the monitoring and management of corporate 
priorities.) 

 
54. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2013/14  

 
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader and the Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services, the Portfolio Holder for Internal 
Services, Performance and Business Development and the Assistant Director of 
Commissioning.  The report sought agreement and a recommendation to full Council 
that a new Local Council Tax Support Scheme be adopted and technical changes be 
made regarding the collection of Council Tax.  Furthermore, that Cabinet be asked to 
determine whether an application should be made for a Transitional Grant and that 
the draft Local Council Tax Support scheme be amended to reflect the grant scheme 
criteria. 
 
Members stated that the determination of whether to make an application for a 
Transitional Grant and that the draft Local Council Tax Support scheme be amended 
to reflect the grant scheme criteria be made by full Council together with the other 
two recommendations already being proposed for consideration by it. 
 
RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL: 
 
a) That it be determined whether an application should be made for a Transitional 

Grant and that the draft Local Council Tax Support scheme be amended to reflect 
the grant scheme criteria; 

 
b) That the new Local Council Tax Support Scheme be agreed; and 
 
c) That technical changes be made to the collection of Council Tax.  
 
(Other options considered: 

• In relation to Council Tax Support, do nothing. If the Council did not adopt a Local 
Council Tax Support scheme based on agreed local criteria then the 
Government’s ‘default scheme’ would be implemented; and 

• In relation to technical changes, do nothing.  If the Council did not make technical 
changes to Council Tax exemptions, then the funding shortfall would have to be 
met by the Local Council Tax Support scheme with less support for working age 
claimants. 

Page 5



- 42 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

Reasons for decision: 

• There were a number of different criteria which could be used to deliver a 
cost neutral scheme. Other billing authorities were expected to agree 
some different arrangements reflecting their own local circumstances. The 
proposals put forward largely reflected the current policies for the award 
of council tax benefit but reflected the reduced level of funding available 
by capping the maximum award [in line with the Transitional Grant 
Criteria]; 

• To deliver the required saving from changes to the Council Tax scheme 
alone, without the Transitional Grant and with no income from technical 
changes to Council Tax exemptions, would lead to a reduced level of 
support across all working age claims; and. 

• It would be possible for the Council to meet the shortfall in funding from 
the Council’s budget. However, this would also create a pressure on the 
other major precepting authorities’ budgets and the approach agreed 
across Lincolnshire had been to produce a scheme which was expected 
to be cost neutral.) 

 
(The Revenues and Benefits Manager left the meeting at 7.00pm, following 
consideration of the above item). 
 

55. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) DRAFT 2013 - 2014 ESTIMATES  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance 
and Democratic Services, the Housing Manager and the Assistant Director Finance 
(S151) which sought consideration of the draft service estimates for 2013-14 and 
approval of proposed rent and charges increases. 
 
The appendices to the report outlined the draft 2013-14 revenue and capital 
estimates for the Housing Revenue Account, the outline capital programme through 
to 2017-18 and the 30 year HRA operating account. 
 
RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL: 
 
a) That the draft Housing Revenue Account Budget for 2013-14 be approved; 
 
b) That the proposed average rent increase of 4.77% be approved in line with 

Government Rent Restructure guidance and the statutory period of notice be 
served on tenants; 

 
c) That the HRA Wardens charges, heating, water and room hire charges be 

approved; and  
 
d) That the draft Capital Programme – 2013-14 to 2017-18 be approved. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• To make amendments to the base Housing Revenue Account budget, by 
considering alternative levels of rent increases, Wardens Service Charges and 

Page 6



- 43 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

Supported Housing charges increases, revised capital investment programmes or 
variations to expenditure plans. 

Reasons for decision: 

• To comply with the Budget and Policy Framework.) 
 

56. WRITE OFFS  
 
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Finance and Democratic Services and the Assistant Director Finance (S151) which 
sought approval to write off irrecoverable debts. 
 
Members noted that the appendices were not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 
1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 (information which was likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual) and 3 (information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972.  The appendices were therefore 
attached to the agenda as item 14, for members to consider in more depth if they 
wished.   
 
DECISION: 
 
That the following debts be written off: 
 
Council Tax    £ 4,413.43 
Non Domestic Rates  £ 2,217.22 
Former Tenant Arrears  £16,540.40 
Housing Benefit Overpayment £ 1,451,57 
Total     £24,622,62 
 
(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendation with amendments; and 

• Not to approve the recommendation. 
Reasons for decision: 

• All recovery methods available had been considered and where appropriate 
pursued before making the decision to write off.) 

 
57. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
DECISION: 
 
To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraphs 1,2, 3 and 4 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



- 44 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

58. WRITE OFFS - APPENDIX  
 
Consideration was given to the appendices relating to the joint report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services and the Assistant Director 
Finance (S151) which sought approval to write off irrecoverable debts.  
 
This item had been dealt with earlier in the meeting, under agenda item 11.   
 

59. DOG WARDEN SERVICES  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Regulatory Services 
and the Public Protection Manager which sought consideration of the future provision 
of Dog Control Services within South Holland.   
    
DECISION: 
 
a) That a suitable vehicle and associated equipment be purchased, as described 

within Option 3 of the report; and 
 
b) That the Environmental Health Manager be authorised to terminate the current 

rolling contract with Pest Express for Dog Warden Services with effect from 1 
April 2013. 

 
RECOMMENDATION TO FULL COUNCIL 
 
That the Establishment be increased by 1 Full Time Equivalent and the post of Dog 
Warden be created with effect from 1 April 2013. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing, and continue to operate with the existing supplier under an implied 
contract; and 

• Re-tender the contract. 
Reasons for decision: 

• To ensure that a cost effective, good quality Dog Control function was provided in 
the future, in accordance with legal requirements, within the resources currently 
available to the Authority; and 

• To make financial and efficiency savings, as detailed in the report.) 
 
(The Public Protection Manager and the Environmental Protection Manager left the 
meeting at 7.22pm, following discussion of the above item.) 
 

60. GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing Landlord 
and the Housing Manager, which sought consideration of options available for 
providing a site as a replacement for the existing unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller 
site at Broad Drove, Gosberton Clough. 
 
 

Page 8



- 45 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

DECISION: 
 
a) That delegated authority be granted to the Asset and Property Manager to enter 

into an Option Agreement for the conditional purchase of the site referred to as 
“Site B” within the report, and for any matters arising, following discussion with the 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Development, Commercial Assets and Strategic 
Planning, subject to the conditions stated in Appendix B to the report. The Option 
Agreement to be conditional upon Planning Permission for the site being granted; 

 
b) That delegated authority be granted to the Asset and Property Manager to enter 

into an Option Agreement for the conditional purchase of the site referred to as 
“Site C” within the report, and for any matters arising, following discussion with the 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Development, Commercial Assets and Strategic 
Planning, subject to the conditions stated in Appendix B to the report; 

 
c) That delegated authority be granted to the Housing Manager, following discussion 

with the Portfolio Holder for Housing Landlord, to submit a planning application for 
Site B to be developed as a permanent Gypsy and Traveller site, and for any 
matters arising; 

 
d) That, subject to planning permission being granted for Site B, delegated authority 

be granted to the Asset and Property Manager to exercise the Option Agreement 
and to complete the purchase of the site, and for any matters arising, following 
discussion with the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development, Commercial 
Assets and Strategic Planning, subject to the conditions stated in Appendix B to 
the report; 

 
e) That, subject to planning permission being granted for Site B, delegated 
 authority be granted to the Housing Manager, following discussion with the 

Portfolio Holder for Housing Landlord, to award a works contract for the 
development and construction of the new site and for any matters arising, subject 
to the following: 

 
o A compliant and robust procurement process being followed for the 

award of the contract; 
o The accepted price for the work being within budget; and 
o The development of the site to be on a “like for like” basis, as set out in 

the “Development Options” section within the report. 
 
f) That the development proposals, as detailed within section 3.0 of the report, be 

adopted; and 
 
g) That, upon completion of the new site, Site B, the land be conveyed to the 

Travellers currently living on the unauthorised site at Broad Drove, Gosberton 
Clough, and/or with a legal interest in it, in exchange for the land they currently 
occupied and/or had a legal interest in at Broad Drove, Gosberton Clough. The 
relocation of residents to be conditional upon the legal exchange having taken 
place. The relocation of residents to take place during one day. Final 

Page 9



- 46 - 
 

CABINET - 15 January 2013 
 

 

 

arrangements to be delegated to the Housing Manager through discussion with 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing Landlord. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• Do Nothing.  The relocation of the residents from the existing unauthorised site at 
Broad Drove, Gosberton Clough, had been a long standing issue and remained 
unresolved at this time. Consequently, doing nothing was not considered to be a 
viable option; and 

• To revert to the option recommended to Cabinet for approval in June 2012 (Site 
A) – this remained a potentially viable option which Cabinet might wish to 
consider.  

Reasons for decision: 

• To enable the Council to acquire land suitable for the development of a Gypsy 
and Traveller site to replace the existing unauthorised site at Broad Drove, 
Gosberton Clough; 

• To enable a specification of work to be agreed prior to acquiring the land in order 
that all associated risks could be identified and acknowledged; 

• To avoid the need for land acquisition by means of a Compulsory Purchase Order 
in order to reduce the timescales and costs involved; and  

• To ensure sufficient budget was available for the delivery of the remaining sites. 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.42 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
These minutes are published on Friday 18 January 2013.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 28 January 2013 (i.e. after 
the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless 
during that period a notice which is signed by at least one member of the Council and 
complies with the requirements of Rules 15(b), (c) and (d) of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules is served on the Assistant Director Democratic Services 
requesting that the decision be called-in and the Assistant Director Democratic 
Services approves the request for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly 
be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed. 
 
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately. 
 
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 23 January 2013. 

Page 10



 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Community Transport Task Group 
 
To:    Cabinet – 19 February 2013  
 
(Author:  Christine Morgan, Member Services Officer) 
 
Subject: Final Report of the Community Transport Task Group 
 
Purpose: To present the Final Report of the Community Transport Task 

Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Policy Development Panel established the Community Transport Task 

Group in September 2007 and reported its findings to the Cabinet in 
September 2008.  The Community Transport Task Group was re-established 
on 30 August 2011 and commenced its work on 19 July 2012. 

 
1.2 The scope for the re-established Task Group was as follows: 
 
 The review to examine the current position in relation to the following projects: 
 

• Voluntary car scheme (including as a model for young people) 

• Wheels to Work; and 

• Minibus brokerage scheme 
 
 and to make recommendations to Cabinet, if necessary, on how South 

Holland District Council could support the schemes. 
 
1.3 The Task Group met on a number of occasions, and after acquainting 

themselves with various community transport issues, they interviewed Nina 
Lightfoot, the Senior Accessibility Project Officer at Lincolnshire County 
Council who provided more in depth and up to date information on the 
schemes detailed within the Task Group’s scope.  Information was also 
ascertained from the Consultant, John Potter, on the current situation 
regarding Youth Transport in the Long Sutton/Sutton Bridge area. 

 
1.4 The Task Group also received information on the South Holland Car Scheme 

and wrote out to those parishes that did not already participate to explain the 
service and its benefits further. 

 

Recommendation:  
 
That the recommendations of the Community Transport Task Group be 
considered. 
 

Agenda Item 6.a)

Page 11



 

1.5 The evidence and information received was analysed collectively to inform the 
conclusions and recommendations contained within the Final Report, which is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

 
1.6 The Final Report was considered by the Policy Development Panel at its 

meeting on 14 November 2012.  Members were happy with the 
recommendations of the Task Group and recommended that its work be taken 
forward to Cabinet.  It was suggested that members speak to local groups 
within their wards, to promote the scheme.  The scheme was currently being 
promoted with pamphlets, but the help of members and perhaps a piece in the 
local press would help raise its profile.   

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 The Cabinet may: 
 

a) Approve the Task Group’s Final Report and recommendations; 
b) Not approve the Task Group’s Final Report and/or suggest that some or all 

of the recommendations be amended; or 
c) Do nothing  

 
If the recommendations are not approved, reasons why will need to be given. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 In terms of the three projects which formed the subject of the review, the 

general feeling was that these initiatives were proceeding reasonably well.  
However, there was a need to undertake more promotion of the services that 
were available, and the Task Group therefore felt that they should retain the 
support of South Holland District Council.  

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES 
 
4.1 The Task Group agreed that the initiatives it had looked at were reasonably 

successful and that they should retain the support of the Authority, but that 
they should be more widely promoted.  These transport services benefited the 
district as a whole and promotion should be undertaken as soon as possible. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 There are no major Carbon Footprint and Environmental Issues associated 

with this report.  However, there could be potential environmental benefits 
arising from the use of minibuses through the Minibus Brokerage Scheme. 

 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered, and in the opinion of 

the report writer, there are none.  

Page 12



 

 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 Contracts issues have been considered, and in the opinion of the report writer, 

there are none. 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.4.1 Crime and Disorder issues have been considered, and in the opinion of the 

report writer, there are none. 
 
5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights 
 
5.5.1 Equality and Diversity and Human Rights issues have been considered, and in 

the opinion on the report writer, there are none.  However, the provision of 
these various transport options serves to improve wider access to services 
and facilities for those living in remoter areas and those without transport. 

 
5.6 Financial  
 
5.6.1 Financial issues have been considered, and in the opinion of the report writer, 

there are none. 
 
5.7 Risk Management  
 
5.7.1 Risk Management issues have been considered, and in the opinion of the 

report writer, there are none. 
 
5.8 Staffing 
 
5.8.1 Staffing issues have been considered, and in the opinion of the report writer, 

there are none. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation 
 
5.9.1 Stakeholder/Consultation issues have been considered, and in the opinion of 

the report writer, there are none. 
  
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All Wards and Communities benefit from the schemes operating within the 

district. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers:- None 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

Lead Contact Officer 
Name/Post:    Gary Alexander, Joint Policy Unit Manager 
Telephone Number:  01775 764467 
Email:     galexander@sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: 
No  
 
Exempt Decision: 
No  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A – Final Report of the Community Transport Task Group 

Page 14



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
South Holland District Council  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review of Community Transport 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Community Transport                          
Task Group on behalf of the Policy Development Panel 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 2012 

Page 15



Contents  
 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1  The Policy Development Panel (PDP) established the Community Transport 
Task Group on 26th September 2007. The scope of the Task Group was 
agreed as the following:  

 
To examine: -  
 

• the need for suitable transport linking villages with towns and all areas 
within the District, to complement the use of private cars; and 

• to examine the shortcomings and benefits of the present service 
 
1.2 The members of the Task Group were Councillors M G Chandler (Chairman), R 

M Rudkin, S G Marthews and G K Dark. The lead officer for the Task Group 
was the Community Development Officer, Karen Johnson. 

 
1.3 At a meeting of the Policy Development Panel on 29th July 2008, consideration 

was given to the Task Group’s final report and recommendations. Some minor 
amendments were made to the report and the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Policy Development Panel met with the Task Group on 18 August 2008 to 
finalise and agree the changes. The recommendations in the report were 
approved by the Panel for submission to Cabinet in September 2008. 

 
1.4 The Policy Development Panel, at its meeting on 30 August 2011, received a 

presentation from Lincolnshire County Council’s Senior Accessibility Project 
Officer, As a consequence of this, it agreed to re-convene the Community 
Transport Task Group for the purpose of undertaking a short review of the new 
community transport projects developed by Lincolnshire County Council and to 
identify any areas where support was required. 

 
2.0 Scope of the Review 

2.1 The review was required to examine the current position in relation to the 
following projects: 

 

•       Voluntary car scheme (including as a model for young people); 
 

•        Wheels to work; and 
 

•        Minibus brokerage scheme; 
 
and make recommendations to Cabinet, if necessary, on how South Holland 
District Council (SHDC) could support the schemes. 

 

 

Page 16



3.0 Membership of Task Group 

3.1   The membership of the Community Transport Task Group is composed of 
Councillors G R Aley, G K Dark, A M Newton and A Puttick. 

 
4.0 Method of Review 

4.1    After Task Group members had acquainted themselves with various 
community transport issues in South Holland District, the activities of their 
review focussed on seeking information from Nina Lightfoot, the Senior 
Accessibility Project Officer at Lincolnshire County Council. Accordingly, Nina 
Lightfoot was invited to, and attended, the meeting of the Community Transport 
Task Group held on 21st August 2012.  

 
5.0 Summary of Findings 

5.1 The following information was obtained through the meeting with Nina 
Lightfoot. 

 
South Holland Car Scheme  

5.2 Currently, the scheme does not cover the whole of South Holland District, but 
efforts are being made to fill the gaps.  There was a small scheme operating in 
the Surfleet, Gosberton, and Pinchbeck areas which was coordinated by a Mr 
Tom Redden from Holbeach. The scheme was administered through the Louth 
Car Scheme. New drivers were always required.  

 
5.3 Gedney has returned to the scheme and Cowbit has recently joined it.    
 
5.4 The Task Group felt that the Scheme was a useful resource to the public, and 

the Chairman of the Task Group had written out to those parishes not part of 
the Scheme to provide more information about it and to explain the benefits to 
parishioners.  

 
Wheels 2 Work  

5.5    The Wheels 2 Work scheme provides the loan of mopeds for people wanting to  
access education, training and work.  The moped can also be used to access  
leisure and social facilities.  There are currently over 200 mopeds available 
County-wide. Individuals aged under18 are offered a 50cc moped, and those 
over 18 can potentially have one of the larger 125cc motorcycles depending on 
experience and competency assessed through the Compulsory Bike Training 
(CBT).    
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



5.6    The CBT plus an additional 3-hours motorcycling has to be undertaken unless 
the rider already has a full motorcycle licence.  The CBT and the cost of 
insurance and tax are included as part of the weekly loan fee. The rider also 
has to pay a small deposit.  The initial loan period is 6 months, which can be 
renewed until the rider finds an alternative solution. An individual has the option 
to purchase the motorcycle after renting it for a period of approximately 18 
months. Approximately 50% of those using the scheme are aged under 24 
years. 

  
Minibus brokerage scheme   

5.7 The minibus brokerage scheme is a relatively new project and the County 
Council is working to encourage minibus owners to put their vehicles into the 
scheme for usage during the vehicles’ ‘down time’.   

 
5.8 There are no hiring-group members at the moment.  To start the scheme Age 

UK was asked to distribute leaflets for the County Council to gauge potential 
membership of hirers. As there were no applicants in response to this initiative, 
the project has since been promoted through parish councils and village hall 
committees.   

 
5.9 To encourage minibus-owning groups to join the scheme two £25,000 grants 

were awarded at the launch of the project. The first grant went to Holbeach 
Community Minibus, and the second went to Birkbeck School in North 
Somercotes. 

 
5.10 It has proved very difficult to get schools engaged and only three schools have 

joined so far. A possible explanation for this is that participating schools need to 
provide a contact person and phone number for hiring groups to be able to 
book the vehicle (this only needs to be for a minimum 2-hour slot each week).  
They then need someone to hand over the vehicle and check it back in on its 
return. It appears that teachers were not interested in these additional tasks.  
However, it was never foreseen that this activity has to be a teaching role. It 
perfectly in order for volunteers to undertake this vital income-generating role to 
help offset the ever-increasing running and maintenance costs. 
 

5.11 Each potential hiring group can apply to become a member through the 
www.a2blincs.org.uk website. A hiring group has to be a not-for-profit 
organisation with a constitution or set of rules and a bank account with 
sufficient funds to pay the hire fees. A hiring group needs to apply for its own 
‘Section 19 permit’ which allows not-for-profit hire with a volunteer driver. The 
group must nominate one of its members to drive the minibus. Any nominated 
driver is required to attend a familiarisation session with a minibus-driver trainer 
who will check the trainee’s licence to ensure eligibility to drive a minibus. Only 
minibuses with a capacity not exceeding 16 passengers are permitted in the 
brokerage scheme. 

  
5.12 As minibuses can be only be hired when not in use by the owning group, an 

availability-diary sheet is provided on the website. 
 

Page 18



5.13 It appears that use of the brokerage scheme is being held back by a lack of 
volunteers to take on the associated responsibilities. 

 
5.14 It is considered that minibuses are expensive vehicles to run and are not doing 

any good by ‘sitting idle’ in schools or community-owned driveways.  The 
income from hire alone can help to offset the ever-increasing costs of servicing, 
repair and ongoing running expenses. The scheme represents a ‘win-win’ 
initiative and, to date, 5 community-owned minibuses are involved in the 
scheme but attracting the involvement of schools is proving difficult.  

 
5.15 In respect of charging, each organisation has the ability to set its own rates.  

Lincolnshire County Council can provide examples of charges and hiring 
policies.  Many schools are charging anything from £50 to £100 per day or 
around £25 per half-day.  Most of the community-owned minibuses charge a 
mileage rate, of around £1.10 to £1.50 per mile.   

 
5.16 It is understood that the minibus brokerage scheme works very well in other 

rural areas. School vehicles are often standing unused for long periods during 
school holidays which are just the times when groups are seeking to hire 
transport for leisure trips. 

 
5.17 There is no financial commitment to being in a minibus brokerage scheme nd 

the benefit lies in the ability to generate income to support the general costs of 
running vehicles. 

 
5.18 More accurate information is required on which schools have minibuses and 

there is a role for District Councillors in promoting the minibus brokerage 
scheme when visiting various organisations. However, the main issue is not the 
lack of user groups, it is the shortage of minibuses available for hire. Until more 
are made available, there is little advantage to be gained in promoting the 
scheme more widely. 

 
5.19 The new Holbeach minibus should be delivered around September 2012, and 

there should be spare capacity for groups to hire it.  
 
5.20 There is an opportunity to promote the Minibus Brokerage Scheme and Wheels 

to Work in the South Holland Now magazine. 
 

Youth Transport  

5.21 During the meeting with Nina Lightfoot, there was some brief discussion on the 
subject of youth transport. There had been some consultation with the Youth 
Council on this matter and Nina advised that a few issues remained to be 
clarified. The Youth Council has been working on a youth transport scheme in 
Sutton Bridge with a view to setting up a pilot voluntary car scheme just for 
young people.  The County Council had been working with Graham Scorthorne 
(now retired) at SHDC and a consultant (John Potter) working for SHDC in 
support of the Youth Council. However, since Graham Scorthorne’s retirement, 
there has been no further contact with John Potter and nothing has happened 
to move the project on. 

Page 19



 
5.22 Following the meeting with Nina, the situation with Youth Transport and the 

Youth Council had been clarified by John Potter.   The Youth Council had been 
interested in the issue for some time, but unfortunately without much progress.  
Initially, it had looked at trying to organise a scheme for the Long Sutton/Sutton 
Bridge area.  Meetings had been held with local people and schools had been 
visited to speak to young people.  There was a lot of interest in the scheme, but 
limited commitment.  Some drivers were recruited (although not enough), 
detailed costings undertaken, and some advertising done.  However, a 
significant plank of the proposed scheme was taken away (the use of the Long 
Sutton Youth Centre as a single point of coordination for calls/requests) and 
therefore no further progress had been made.  The Youth Council was still 
interested in helping to resurrect the scheme as they were disappointed that it 
had never got off the ground.    

 
5.23 Nina advised that there is an issue with transport for young people as a number 

of youth clubs have closed down.  Transport is a problem generally for the 13-
16 age group living in rural areas. This group is obviously not covered by the 
Wheels 2 Work scheme.    

 
6.0 Conclusions and Recommendations 

6.1    In terms of the three projects which form the subject of this review, the general 
feeling is that these initiatives are proceeding reasonably well. However, there 
is a need to undertake more promotion of the services that are available. 

 
6.2    Accordingly, the Task Group recommends that all three projects should retain 

the support of South Holland District Council. 
 
7.0 Financial implications of recommendations 

7.1   There are no financial implications relating to the recommendation. 

8.0 Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review 

8.1    A presentation by Nina Lightfoot , Senior Accessibility Project Officer, 
Lincolnshire County Council followed by questions submitted to her by 
members of the Task Group formed the main source of information.  

 
 

Page 20



 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: The Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland Task Group 
 
To:    Cabinet – 19 February 2013  
 
(Author:  Christine Morgan – Member Services Officer) 
 
Subject: Interim Report of the Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland Task 

Group 
 
Purpose: To present the Interim Report of the Effectiveness of CCTV in 

South Holland Task Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Performance Monitoring Panel set up a Task Group in 2009 to consider 

the Effectiveness of CCTV, and the Cabinet considered the Task Group’s 
recommendations in June 2010.  Since then, the Performance Monitoring 
Panel had monitored Portfolio Holder progress on these recommendations. 
On 6 November 2012, the Panel agreed to re-convene the Task Group, with 
the following Terms of Reference: 

 
1.2 ‘To examine the effectiveness of the Council’s CCTV service and prospects 

for future provision’.   
 
1.3 The methodology of the review had consisted of interviewing a number of key 

people who were involved in managing and utilising the existing system.  This 
included: 

 

• Councillor C N Worth – Portfolio Holder for Localism and the Big Society 

• Riana Rudland – Community Development Manager 

• Emily Holmes – Community Development Team Leader 

• Inspector J Tyner – Lincolnshire Police 

• Councillor G Aley – Spalding Town Forum 

• Mr S Grimston – Grimston Technical Services (current service provider) 
 
1.4 The Task Group had not yet concluded its work, but given recent 

developments regarding a possible countywide CCTV system, had produced 
an interim report for consideration. This had been considered by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on 29 January 2013.   The Chairman of the 
Task Group had advised the Panel that, as there were currently a number of 
issues around the future of CCTV provision, the Task Group thought it 

Recommendations:  
 
That the recommendations contained within the Interim Report of the 
Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland Task Group be considered. 
 

Agenda Item 6.b)

Page 21



 

necessary to make recommendations to Cabinet to reassure local residents 
that CCTV provision would continue. 

 
1.5 The Task Group’s Interim Report is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 The Cabinet may: 
 

a) Approve the Task Group’s Interim Report and recommendations; 
b) Not approve the Task Group’s Interim Report and/or suggest that some or 

all of the recommendations be amended; or 
c) Do nothing  

 
If the recommendations are not approved, reasons why will need to be given. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The Task Group has not yet concluded its work but given recent 

developments regarding a possible countywide CCTV system, an interim 
report for the Cabinet’s consideration has been produced. 

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES 
 
4.1 The current system, although not without its flaws, does provide a valuable 

service to South Holland and appears to be extensively used for downloads.  
Potential solutions to provision for the future have been discussed but are at a 
much higher cost than the present system. The Task Group’s 
recommendations would provide time to resolve the issues with the current 
system and to consider future provision.  The Task Group consider that it is 
not the right time to procure a new system for the following reasons: 

 

• New technology will be available within 3 – 12 months; 

• The current system remains serviceable for the foreseeable future, at the 
very minimum, until evaluation of the benefit of new technology has 
occurred; and 

• The cost of the current system is relatively low. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 Carbon Footprint and Environmental Issues implications have been 

considered and in the opinion of the report writer, there are none. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 There would be no constitutional implications and any legal implications would 

be in the form of contracts (see below). 
 

Page 22



 

5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 If the recommendations are agreed by the Cabinet, there would be legal 

implications regarding contracts. 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.4.1 Although no statistical evidence has been made available, anecdotally the 

provision of CCTV reduces crime and assists with the conviction of criminals. 
 
5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights 
 
5.5.1 Equality and Diversity and Human Rights implications have been considered 

and in the opinion of the report writer, there are none. 
 
5.6 Financial  
 
5.6.1 SHDC contribution to the current CCTV provision is contained within the 

proposed base budget at current levels for 2013/14, pending the decisions of 
parishes as to whether they wish to continue.  Money was set aside from 
reserves from savings within community development in the last financial year 
(2011/12) which could be drawn down to support interim arrangements if 
agreed. 

 
5.7 Risk Management  
 
5.7.1 Risk Management implications have been considered and in the opinion of the 

report writer, there are none. 
 
5.8 Staffing 
 
5.8.1 Staffing implications have been considered and in the opinion of the report 

writer, there are none. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation 
 
5.9.1 The Task Group has spoken to stakeholders who have informed the 

recommendations. 
  
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 The following wards will be affected – Central Spalding wards, Crowland, 

Holbeach, Long Sutton and Sutton Bridge 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers:- None 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 23



 

Lead Contact Officer 
Name/Post:    Emily Spicer, Environmental Services Co-ordinator 
Telephone Number:  01775 764884  
Email:     espicer@sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: 
Yes 
 
Exempt Decision: 
No  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Interim Report of the Effectiveness of CCTV in South 

Holland Task Group 

Page 24



APPENDIX A 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

South Holland District Council  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review of the ‘Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland’ 

INTERIM REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the CCTV Task Group on behalf of 
Performance Monitoring Panel. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

February 2013  

Page 25



Contents  
 
 

1. Introduction and scope of the Review 

2.     Membership of Task Group 

3. Background to the review 

4. Method of Review 

5. Summary of Findings 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

7. Financial implications of recommendations 

8. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review 

9. Abbreviations 

 

Page 26



1. Introduction and scope of the review 
 
1.1    This is a re-established Task Group to examine the current situation with 

regard to CCTV and the prospects for the future.  
 
2. Membership of Task Group 
 
2.1    Councillors D J Wilkinson (Chairman), B Alcock, M Howard and R Rudkin.  
 
3.  Background to Review 
 
3.1   The decision to re-convene the CCTV Task Group was taken due to the 

growing concerns around the effectiveness and monitoring arrangements of the 
current CCTV system. These concerns were particularly heard through the 
Parish Councils that finance the system (Crowland, Holbeach and Long Sutton) 
and the difficulties they have in contacting the agencies managing and using 
the system.  

 
4. Method of Review 
 
4.1    The task group started its work in November 2012. At this interim period, the 

methodology of the review has consisted of interviewing a number of key 
people who are involved in managing and utilising the existing system. This 
included: 

 

• Councillor Nick Worth, Portfolio Holder for Localism and the Big Society.  

• Riana Rudland, Community Development Manager  

• Emily Holmes, Community Development Team Leader 

• Inspector J. Tyner, Lincolnshire Police 

• Chamber of Commerce and the Shop Watch Co-Ordinator 

• Councillor G Aley, Spalding Town Forum 

• Mr S. Grimston, Grimston Technical Services (Current service provider).  
 
        This clarified the current situation for the group and identified what action is 

being taken for future development of the system.  
 
4.2    It is the intention of the Group to continue the review by interviewing the Parish 

Councils involved with the current scheme and identify their views of the 
effectiveness of CCTV in their Parish.  

 
5. Summary of Findings 
 
5.1    The initial interview period has identified that the Police, Chamber of 

Commerce and Shop Watch Co-Ordinator still highly value the need for the 
system and see it as vital to continue their work in South Holland.  

 
5.2   To date there is still no statistical data (as previously reported) from Crime 

reports or other, to support the usefulness of CCTV in South Holland. The 
group were informed that this is a National Issue. However the Group was 
informed by Inspector Tyner of Lincolnshire Police that a record is available of 

Page 27



the number of requests made by Police Officers for CCTV footage and this 
would be made available to the group shortly. 

 
5.3   The service provider GTS informed the group that although the current cameras 

installed in South Holland were not the latest technology, they were still 
considered the industry standard. He stated that the criticism of the system 
regarding its ability to track suspects, zoom in and move smoothly is not down 
to the cameras capabilities but due to the limitations of the current available 
broadband system. 

 
5.4    The service provider advised the group that a new faster broadband service 

should be available within the next 3 to 12 months bringing with it the ability to 
utilise the latest technology cameras and all the associated features such as 
'joy stick control'.  

 
5.5    As reported last time the group were informed that one of the main problems 

with the current system is with the lack of volunteers. It is clear that recruiting 
an adequate number of volunteers has been an issue from the start which has 
never been resolved. The group has been informed that only 5 volunteers 
monitor the CCTV cameras within Spalding Police Station, all of which takes 
place in the day time. The Group would like it acknowledged that these 
volunteers provide an invaluable service with little or no reward. 

 
5.6    The group found that there appears to be a real willingness from the Police to 

put resources into encouraging more volunteers to monitor the CCTV. In 
addition the Chamber of Commerce informed the group that they would be 
willing to lead a recruiting campaign, including training and undertaking the day 
to day management of volunteers along side its successful Shop Watch project. 

 
5.7   The group has also established that there is a need for a greater understanding 

of the current system and its facilities, in particular the downloading of 
data/footage from cameras on site. The group are certain that the service 
provider, if approached, would be more than willing to offer assistance to 
resolve this issue. 

 
5.8    Recently, there have been several reports in the local media suggesting that a 

Countywide CCTV System is the preferred way forward. However, the group 
and some of the interviewees are of the same opinion that while this could be 
one solution to the issues raised, it would be some time before this even gets 
approved, requiring considerable investment and perhaps even more difficulty 
attaining a Countywide Political will.   

Page 28



 
7. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
7.1   The current system although not without its flaws does provide a valuable 

service to South Holland and appears to be extensively used for downloads. 
This will hopefully be quantified when we receive the information from the 
Police. The system has proved itself to be extremely reliable and the current 
service provider sees no reason why this situation should change in the 
foreseeable future. This reliability comes at a relatively low cost.  

 
7.2    It must be noted that the current service provider have indeed gone out of their 

way to resolve problems that have occurred with the system and its users and 
has given advice freely to the authority. This should not go unnoticed. 

 
7. 3   Some of the problems with the current system could be overcome if the offer 

from the Chamber of Commerce were accepted and they embarked on a 
recruitment campaign. This would require some guidance from the Police who 
now have a real willingness to increase volunteers. This would make a 
considerable difference to the current system. 

 
7.4 The group feel that although the management has improved over the lifetime of 

the system, there are still some areas that are lacking. This mainly being 
communication between partners and users of the system, which at best are 
poor. 

 
7.5    The uncertainty surrounding the present system and its future, together with 

the lack of options and costs for providing a replacement system are 
considered to be unhelpful to all parties involved. Although potential solutions 
have been discussed by SHDC Officers it would seem that these would come 
at a much higher cost than the present system. The group have also been 
informed, be it only anecdotally, those CCTV systems at other Authorities are 
substantially more expensive to operate and manage.  

 
7.6   The group are concerned at the apparent haste to embark on the procurement 

of a new system. This will involve considerable officer time that could be better 
spent resolving the issues with the current system.  

 
7.7   The group have also been informed that it is not the right time to be procuring a 

new system for the following reasons:  
 

a) New technology will be available with 3-12 months. 
b) The current system remains serviceable for the foreseeable future. At the 
very minimum until evaluation of the benefit of new technology has occurred. 
c) The cost of the current system is relatively low.   

 
 
 
   

Page 29



 
Interim recommendations. 
 
It is recommended that: 
 
1. Officers secure a further yearly contract with GTS. 
 
2. An annual or biannual meeting is arranged with all partners involved to discuss 
requirements. 
 

3. CCTV is re-evaluated in 3 to 12 months time when new broadband technology is 
available.  

 
8. Financial Implications of Recommendations 
 
8.1   Negotiation of an annual contract with Grimston Security will need to be 
undertaken. This will be initially funded through the Community Safety Partnership. 
SHDC contribution to the current CCTV provision is contained within the proposed 
base budget at current levels for 2013/14, pending the decisions of parishes as to 
whether they wish to continue.  Money was set aside from reserves from savings 
within community development in the last financial year (2011/12) which could be 
drawn down to support interim arrangements if agreed. 
 
9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review 
 
Sources of information 
 

• Effectiveness of CCTV Task Group Final Report June 2010 
 

Individuals Interviewed 
 

• Councillor N Worth, Portfolio Holder for Localism and the Big Society  

• Riana Rudland, Community Development Manager  

• Emily Holmes, Community Development Team Leader 

• Inspector Jim Tyner, Lincolnshire Police 

• Phil Scarlett, Chamber of Commerce  

• Barry Inman, Shop Watch Co-Ordinator 

• Councillor G Aley, on behalf of Spalding Town Forum 

• Steve Grimston, Grimston Technical Services  
 
 
10. Abbreviations 
 
     CCTV                      Closed Circuit Television 
     GTS                        Grimston Technical Services 

Page 30



 
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services 

and the Assistant Director Finance (s151) 
 
To:    Cabinet – 19 February 2013 
 
(Author:  Author: Mark Finch, Assistant Director - Finance) 
 
Subject: General Fund Estimates, Financial Medium Term Plan, Capital 

Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 
 
Purpose: To consider the General Fund revenue and capital estimates and 

the Financial Medium Term Plan, the Capital Strategy and the 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement prior to formal adoption 
by Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The appendices to this report outline the 2013-14 revenue and capital 

estimates for the General Fund; the proposals for the setting of discretionary 
fees and charges; the outline financial position through to 2017-18; the 
financial medium term plan; the capital strategy and the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement. 

  
1.2 The financial medium term plan sets out the framework within which the 

budget is to be   set to ensure that it enables the Council to achieve its own 

Recommendation to full Council  
 

a) That the General Fund revenue estimates (Appendix A), use of reserves 
(Appendix D) and Fees and Charges (Appendix H) be approved; 

 
b) That the Council Tax for a Band D property in 2013-14, to be set at 

£156.24, be approved; 
 

c) That the Spalding Special Expenses estimates (Appendix C) be approved; 
 

d) That the Spalding Special Expense for a Band D property in 2013-14, to be 
set at £23.29, be approved; 

 
e) That the Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendices A and B) be approved 

 
f) That the Capital Strategy and Programme (Appendices E and F) be 

approved and 
 

g) That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, including the 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy, Annual Investment Strategy and the 
associated Prudential and Treasury Indicators (Appendix G) be approved. 

 

Agenda Item 7.

Page 31



 
corporate objectives.  The capital strategy sets out the framework for the 
capital budget setting. 

 
1.3 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement addresses how the Council 

will manage its treasury function over the coming year, as well as identifying 
the prudential indicators that the authority has to approve to meet the 
requirements of regulations.  

 
1.4  This report concentrates on the General Fund estimates. The Housing 

Revenue Accounts were approved at Council on 23 January 2013. 
 
1.5  The final Local Government Settlement has been confirmed and Central 

Government funding has therefore been included within the estimates. Whilst 
the Council has prepared a balanced budget for 2013-14, future years will 
require further efficiencies in order to produce balanced and sustainable 
budgets. The attached appendices set out the proposed General Fund 
estimates and supporting papers.  

 
1.6  The existing five year capital programme has been amended to reflect revised 

profiling and scheme estimates.  As part of the 2013-14 budget process a 
number of new schemes were submitted for inclusion in the Capital 
Programme. The Council has limited resources to finance all of these 
schemes without the need for further borrowing. To achieve a programme that 
can be funded the majority of new schemes have not been included in the 
proposed five year capital programme. This will be reviewed as resources are 
identified to fund these schemes. The schemes have been categorised as 
essential or desirable to indicate the relative priorities as set out in Appendix 
E. 

 
1.7  The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set out its Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Strategy and 
Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year. These outline the 
Council’s strategy for borrowing and its policies for managing its investments 
and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. Our 
strategy statements for 2013-14 are attached at Appendix G. 

 
1.8 Following its meeting on 20 November 2012 the budget consultation process 

began. Responses were invited from residents and businesses through the 
Council website, and a budget scrutiny meeting was held on 4 December to 
allow the scrutiny panels to examine the estimates. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 The Cabinet may: 
 

• Note the report and make changes if necessary; or 

• Do nothing 
 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework. 

 

Page 32



 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES 
 
4.1 To approve an affordable and balanced budget for 2013-14. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1  Carbon Footprint and Environmental Issues implications have been 

considered and in the opinion of the report writer, there are none. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 Constitution and Legal implications have been considered and in the opinion 

of the report writer, there are none. 
 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 Contracts implications have been considered and in the opinion of the report 

writer, there are none. 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.4.1 Crime and Disorder implications have been considered and in the opinion of 

the report writer, there are none. 
 
5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights 
 
5.5.1 Equality and Diversity and Human Rights implications have been considered 

and in the opinion of the report writer, there are none. 
 
5.6 Financial  
 
5.6.1 The report is of a financial nature and financial implications are covered within 

the report. 
 
5.7 Risk Management  
 
5.7.1 Risks are set out in Appendix A 
 
5.8 Staffing 
 
5.8.1 Staffing implications have been considered and in the opinion of the report 

writer, there are none. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation 
 
5.9.1 These implications are as set out in Appendix A 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 The implications of the report and appendices cover all wards. 

Page 33



 
 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers:-None  
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name/Post: Mark Finch, Assistant Director, Finance 
Telephone Number: 01775 761161 
Email: mark.finch@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: 
Yes 
 
Exempt Decision: 
No  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A -  General Fund Budget 2013-14 and Financial Medium Term Plan 2013-    
    14 to 2017-18. 
Appendix B -  General Fund Summary 2013-14 to 2017-18 
Appendix C -  Spalding Special Expenses  
Appendix D -  Reserves 
Appendix E -  General Fund Capital Programme 2013-14 to 2017-18. 
Appendix F -  Capital Strategy 
Appendix G - Treasury Management Strategy Statement incorporating Minimum  
     Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy  
     2013-14 
Appendix H -  Fees and Charges 

Page 34



 - 1 - 

 
Appendix A 

 

General Fund Budget 2013-14 and Financial Medium Term Plan 
 2013-14 to 2017-18. 
 

This appendix is the combined budget estimates and Medium Term Plan 2013-18.  
The Medium Term Plan is the link between the Corporate Plan, which sets out the 
aims and ambitions agreed with our partners, and the Medium Term Financial Plan 
which sets out the cost of what the Council is currently providing.  The plan also 
establishes a set of financial policies and principles which provide a sound basis for 
maintaining the financial integrity of the Council over the medium term. The Housing 
Revenue Account estimates were approved at Council on 23 January 2013. 
 

1. Budget Summary 
 

The following table shows the headline figures relating to the budget estimates for 
2013-14 compared to the 2012-13 position: 
 
 
Description 

12-13 
£ 

13-14 
£ 

South Holland precept requirement * 4,456,990 3,892,250 

Council Tax Band D  156.60     156.24 

Tax Base * 28,461 24,912 

Band D cost per week 3.01 3.00 

Grant settlement 6,539,844 - 

Local Government Settlement – Start-up Funding 
Assessment  

 
- 

 
7,316,145 

Transitional Scheme Grant - 17,856 

Efficiency Support for Services in Sparse Areas Grant - 16,299 

Council Tax Freeze Grant 233,465        39,000 

New Homes Bonus applied - - 

Special expenses account 210,480 186,830 

(Efficiency)/contingency requirement - - 

 
Of all the homes in the South Holland area, 84% are in bands A-C and 59% are in 
band A or B.  Therefore the majority of homes pay less than £2.34 (Band B equivalent) 
a week towards the District services we provide. 
 
*The reduction in South Holland’s precept and taxbase is a result of regulatory 
changes to council tax benefit, which is explained further in the grant settlement 
section. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 - 2 - 

The following table details the Band D Council Tax levels for all precepting authorities 
over the last eight years: 
 
  

Lincs 
County 
Council 

£ 

 
Lincs 
Police 

Authority 
£ 

South 
Holland 

(excl special 
expenses) 

£ 

 
 

Average 
Parish 

£ 

 
 
 

Total 
£ 

 
 
 

Increase 
% 

2005-06    899.82 119.43 134.56 19.81 1,173.62 5.02% 

2006-07    944.73 125.37 140.28 23.12 1,233.50 5.10% 

2007-08    987.21 131.58 145.19 23.68 1,287.66 4.39% 

2008-09 1,021.77 165.78 149.18 25.55 1,362.28 5.80% 

2009-10 1,039.68 174.06 153.13 26.50 1,393.37 2.28% 

2010-11 1,065.69 179.28 157.03 27.35 1,429.35 2.58% 

2011-12 1,065.69 179.28 157.03 28.04 1,430.04 0.05% 

2012-13 1,065.69 186.39 156.60 29.19 1,437.87 0.54% 

 
 
The following chart shows the average Band D Council Tax levels (excluding parish 
precepts) for Lincolnshire Councils for 2012-13.  
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Boston East Lindsey Lincoln North Kesteven South Holland South Kesteven West Lindsey

Average band D Council Tax by authority (2012/13) excluding Parish Precepts - 

Lincolnshire Authorities

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 - 3 - 

 
 
 

2. 2013-14 Estimates 
 
The table below shows the budget estimates for 2012-13 and 2013-14 by type of 
expenditure/income split over the standard CIPFA classifications.   
 
Appendix B shows the General Fund estimates over the medium term. 
 

 

Estimate 
12-13 
£’000 

Estimate 
13-14 
£’000 

Variance 
£’000 

Employee Related Expenses 6,089 6,290 201 
Premises Related Expenses 1,071 973 (98)  
Transport Related Expenses 1,383 1,357 (26)  
Supplies & Services 2,806 2,975 169  
Drainage Board Levies 2,144 2,185 41 
Parish Precepts 620 562 (58) 
Grant to Parishes - 77 77 
Third party Payments 2,996 2,837 (159)  
Transfer Payments 22,358 18,932 (3,426) 
Capital Charges 836 697 (139)  
Capital Financing and other 
adjustments (540) (399) 141 
Movement on Reserves 480 341 (139) 

Total Expenditure 40,243 36,827 (3,416) 

    
Rents and Service Charges (765) (779) (14) 
Fees & Charges (3,166) (3,177) (11)  
Grants, Contributions and Re-
imbursements (22,866) (19,382) 3,484  
 Investment Income (50) (50) - 
Recharges (806) (647) 159 

Total Income (27,653) (24,035) 3,618 

    

Net cost of services 12,590 12,792 202  

 

Explanation of Variances 
 
Employee Related Expenses 
The main variances within employee related expenses are due to incremental 
increases, a1 % pay award and a provision for pension costs relating to posts on the 
establishment which are covered by agency staff. The budget also includes the 
Cabinet decision to reflect pay equalisation costs within Waste Services and additional 
resources which have been funded by the Waste Collection Support Grant. 
 
Premises Related Expenses  
The planned maintenance programme has been assessed and has resulted in a 
reduction in level of budget required. 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 - 4 - 

Supplies & Services 
Additional expenditure in Waste Services is offset by Government funding through the 
Waste Collection Support Scheme. There are also additional ICT costs to ensure the 
Council stays compliant with Government Connect security standards as well as the 
financing of Microsoft Licence upgrades. 
 
Third Party Payments 
This budget includes contractual commitments to both Compass Point Business 
Services and Lincolnshire Legal Services. 
  
Transfer Payments 
The budget covers the payment of Rent allowances and Rent Rebates, reflecting 
current case loads, in addition to all grants and contributions paid where the Council 
does not benefit from the provision of a service. Council Tax benefits cease to exist 
from 1 April 2013, following the introduction of the localised Council Tax scheme.  
Housing benefit payments are funded through Government subsidy are included under 
Grants, Contributions and Re-imbursements. 
 
Recharges 
Recharges have been reviewed as part of the budget process and include recharges 
to the Housing Revenue Account, to reflect its share of the Corporate and Democratic 
Core and its share of support services. 
 

3. Principles of Budget Preparation 
 

The following principles have been used in the budget preparation process in order to: 
o Provide a consistent and authorised approach to the preparation of revenue 

and capital estimates. 
o Ensure estimates are prepared in line with available resources. 
o Ensure that estimates are prepared to reflect corporate priorities. 

 

Budget principles: 
o Detailed working sheets are maintained for all budget headings and these are 

prepared by the budget manager, with the exception of central items. 
o Central items are calculated by the CPBS accountancy team.  The central items 

are: salaries, insurance, support service recharges, capital accounting entries, 
interest paid and received, pensions, National Insurance (NI), special expenses, 
mobiles phones and postages. 

o The full effect of known pay awards is incorporated into the estimates and a 
provision made for future years, based on CMT guidance (taking into account 
any Central Government policies). 

o Staffing estimates are prepared on the basis of approved staffing levels as 
provided by Human Resources and have been signed off by budget managers.  
These estimates include an allowance for employers NI, superannuation 
contributions and lump sum amounts.  

o Controllable expenditure is defined as expenditure on employees, premises 
(excluding business rates), transport, supplies and services, but excluding 
internal recharges. 

o There will be no allowance for inflation, unless contractual or related to salaries. 
o We should seek additional scrutiny and challenge for accessing capital 

resources and ensure that the programme only reflects schemes that are 
sufficiently scoped to allow delivery. 

Page 38



 - 5 - 

o A review of fees and charges to ensure optimisation of income where consistent 
with policy. 

o An acceptance that a viable budget was already created last year and we adjust 
it rather than recreate afresh. 

o To set a balanced budget with no long term dependency on General Balances. 
o To work towards a zero balance on the collection fund. 
o Only the 2013-14 budget is formally approved, future years are indicative only 

for both revenue and capital. 
 

4. Grant Settlement Assumptions 
 

On the 19 December 2012, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government announced a two year settlement, covering 2013-14 and 2014-15 which 
determines how much grant central government will give to each local authority.  The 
Final Local Government Settlement for 2013-14 was confirmed on 4 February 2013.  
 

Significant changes to central government funding has seen greater responsibility 
placed on local authorities, particularly billing authorities, as the risk of business rate 
collection is passed from central government to local authorities. The central 
government pool will operate in a different way, to incentivise local authorities to 
encourage economic development and retain business rate growth. The base funding 
requirements have still been set through the local government settlement but 
authorities will see greater impact on the cash it is allowed to retain, as this will be 
directly linked to the amount of business rates collected. It is likely that Revenue 
Support Grant will be eroded over the coming years, as greater emphasis is placed on 
generating business rates growth and increasing the taxbase through encouraging the 
development of additional homes.    
 

The table below shows the level of budgeted central grants.  
 

 12-13 
£’000 

13-14 
£’000 

14-15 
£’000 

15-16 
£’000 

16-17 
£’000 

17-18 
£’000 

Local Government 
Settlement 

 
6,540 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Local Government 
Settlement - Revenue 
Support Grant and Business 
Rates Baseline Funding 

 
 
 
- 

 
 
 

7,316 

 
 
 

6,370 

 
 
 

5,882 

 
 
 

5,471 

 
 
 

5,151 

Transitional Grant Scheme - 18 - - - - 

Efficiency Support for 
Services in Sparse Areas 
Grant 

 
 
- 

 
 

16 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

Council Tax Freeze 234 39 39 - - - 

New Homes Bonus Scheme 575 762 949 1,136 1,323 1,155 

 
Total 

 
7,349 

 
8,151 

 
7,358 

 
7,018 

 
6,794 

 
6,306 

 

A number of specific grants have to be rolled into the Revenue Support Grant and 
Business Rates Baseline Funding from 2013/14. The 7,316m includes the following 
grants: 
 

• The  ‘2011-12 Council Tax Freeze’ grant of £116,482 up to and including 2014-
15 as awarded in the CSR 2010.   

 

Page 39



 - 6 - 

• Homelessness Prevention grant funding of £78,027 for 2013-14 and 2014-15. 
 

• Council Tax Support grant funding of £661,307. This new grant replaces 
Council Tax benefit subsidy. 

 
 
On 23 January 2013 the Council approved its Local Council Tax Support scheme for 
2013-14. In approving its scheme the Council has been able to submit an application 
for additional grant under the Governments transitional grant scheme. An amount of 
£17,856 has been included in the estimates for 2013-14.  
 
On 4 February 2013, the Council received notification of an ‘Efficiency Support for 
Services in Sparse Areas Grant’ of £16,299 payable in 2013-14. This allocation will be 
transferred to the Organisational Development Reserve. 
 
CLG has announced a council tax freeze grant offer to local authorities for 2013-14.  
The funding will provide authorities with the equivalent of a 1% council tax increase for 
2013-14 and 2014-15, if council tax is not increased in 2013-14. A grant of £39,000 
has been included for both years. 
 
On 10 December 2012, the Department for Communities and Local Government 
published the provisional allocations for the New Homes Bonus scheme for 2013-14, 
South Holland’s allocation being £761,662. This scheme is designed to provide 
incentives and rewards for councils and communities who build houses in their area. 
The scheme commenced in April 2011. At the date of this report there has been no 
indication of an end point for the scheme and it assumes that the scheme will be on-
going, with the current and future years’ allocations each lasting for 6 years. 
Allocations for the term of the Medium Term Financial Plan are shown in the table 
below, but from 2014-15 are subject to revision. Annual grant allocations will be 
transferred to the Council Tax reserve as, currently, they do not support the base 
budget. 
 
Entitlement 11-12 

£’000 
12-13 
£’000 

13-14 
£’000 

14-15 
£’000 

15-16 
£’000 

16-17 
£’000 

17-18 
£’000 

Year 1 355 355 355 355 355  355 - 

Year 2  220 220 220 220 220 220 

Year 3   187 187 187 187 187 

Year 4    187 187 187 187 

Year 5     187 187 187 

Year 6      187 187 

Year 7       187 

Total 355 575 762 949 1,136 1,323 1,155 

        

Reserve 
Balance 

 
355 

 
930 

 
1,692 

 
2,641 

 
3,777 

 
5,100 

 
6,255 

 
The Council has received confirmation of £1,768,050 grant funding from CLG to 
enhance its refuse and recycling service which has been built into the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. It is anticipated that capital expenditure will account for £1,039,000 of 
this grant with the remainder being allocated to revenue. 
 
 

Page 40



 - 7 - 

5. Collection Fund 
 
Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund.  In 
the current difficult economic climate, the Medium Term Plan target is to have a 
minimal balance on the Collection Fund, forecasting a zero balance in future years. 
Figures indicate a nil balance for 2013-14 (deficit of £47,042 for 2012-13).  
 
The Council Tax Benefits reforms will impact on future year’s collection rates and 
Collection Fund balance. 
 

6. Tax Base 
 
Delegated authority has been given to the S151 Officer to approve the taxbase, as 
legally the taxbase can only be set in the window 1 December to 31 January. For 
2013-14 the taxbase will look radically different as we implement Council Tax technical 
reforms (remove certain discounts and exemptions which will increase the 
taxbase) and bring in Local Support for Council Tax that replaces Council Tax Benefit 
(which will reduce the taxbase).  
 
For 2013-14 the tax base is 24,912 and for all future years a 0.2% increase has been 
forecast. The assumed figures are shown in section 7 of this report. 
 
The tax base for all parishes will be included in the Council Tax Setting report, to be 
approved at Full Council in February 2013. 
 

7. Other Budget Assumptions 
 
The budget estimates and Medium Term Plan cover the period 2013-14 to 2017-18. 
Over this timescale it is important that we make realistic assumptions as to how costs 
rise or fall. This section details the key assumptions made. 
The key assumptions used are: 

o Revenue budgets will be used to deliver services during the year for which they 
are approved. 

o There will be allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory 
obligations and contractual inflation) but will not allow for any increase for 
general inflation. 

o Estimates are prepared on the understanding that appropriate service budgets 
were produced for the previous year (2012-13) which will then be adjusted to 
reflect the changing financial circumstances that the public sector is required to 
prepare for. 

o Where service delivery is dependent on a specific grant we will only assume 
continuation of the grant and expenditure where such notification has been 
received. 

o Council tax levels will reduce by approximately 0.25% per annum over the 5 
year Medium Term Plan   

o Details on the grant settlement and assumptions made are shown in section 4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 - 8 - 

The key assumptions made for the setting of these budget estimates, which influence 
the five year financial plan are as follows: 
 

 12-13 13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 

RPI 2.5% 2.6% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 

National pay increase 0% 1% 1% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 

Staffing Salary Level 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 

Pension contribution rate 24.8% 24.8% 25.8% 25.8% 25.8% 25.8% 

Return on cash 
investments 

 
1.0% 

 
1.0% 

 
1.5% 

 
2.0% 

 
2.5% 

 
3.0% 

Tax base 28,461 24,912 24,962 25,012 25,062 25,112 

Council Tax 156.60 156.24 155.88 155.52 155.16 154.80 

 
 

8. Future Developments 
 
The Universal Credit is due to be rolled out from October 2013. It is part of a package 
of measures under the Welfare Reform Act. It will change the way that benefits 
(including Housing Benefits delivered by local authorities) are administered. It is not 
yet clear what role local authorities will have in this administration, what the financial 
consequences or the timing of the changes will be.  
 

9. Strategy, Aspirations and Forward Projections 
 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy is shown below: 

1) To manage a budget process that will make progress in re-directing and 
focusing the budget on corporate priorities and in doing so, recognise the 
intrinsic link between this strategy, the Capital Strategy, and the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

2) Adopt a corporate approach to budget preparation and continue to provide 
strong timely budget control. 

3) Use sound modern financial systems procedures and principles and promote 
electronic record keeping and approval processes.  Ensure financial 
performance reporting remains integrated with financial reporting and business 
planning. 

4) Ensure there is a rigorous scrutiny of the financial planning process and work 
towards a more effective consultation process to engage the public and 
stakeholders. 

5) Maintain balances and reserves that will provide for known risks and liabilities 
and provide capacity for managing peaks in expenditure. 

6) Operate strategies on capital and external funding that supports the Council’s 
corporate objectives. 

7) Undertake a risk assessment of material items of income and expenditure and 
report the risks to Members as part of the budget setting process (see section 
14). 

8) Manage and use our resources to deliver value for money and better 
sustainable outcomes and efficiencies for local people. 

9) Set realistic targets for trading accounts and if services fail to achieve these 
they will be subject to a more fundamental review. 

10) Aim for a minimum balance on the Collection Fund. 
11) Prepare robust and realistic income and resource requirement plans for the 

next five years. 
12) Promote take up of benefits and reliefs. 

Page 42



 - 9 - 

13) Maximise income collection. 
14) Recognise our role in the community throughout and beyond the period of 

economic hardship by providing assistance to individuals, groups and 
businesses.  

 
A key aspect of the Council’s strategy to cope with the financial challenges that it 
faces is the creation of Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Ltd, (CPBS), a 
company jointly owned with East Lindsey District Council. This innovative 
development is designed to deliver greater efficiency in the provision of back office 
services. The company is established to provide Information Technology, Human 
Resources, Financial Services, Customer Services and Revenues and Benefits. It is 
projected to make savings totalling over £30m over a10 year period, with South 
Holland’s share being in excess of £10m. 
These strategies will be achieved through the working practices set by the relevant 
departments.  The effectiveness of these strategies and the underlying principles can 
be monitored by key outputs such as: 

o Annual audit letter 
o Financial plan 
o Governance and Audit Committee reports 
o Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
o Grants returns submitted to deadlines 
o Governance and performance reports 

 
A major source of income to the Council is provided by Council Tax. This strategy 
builds in a 0.25% reduction in the district’s council tax in each of the next four years.  
 

10. 2012-13 Outturn 
 
An assessment of the 2012-13 outturn will inform the reliance that can be placed on 
the baseline used for the 2013-14 estimates. At December 2012 an estimated 
overspend of £126,000 has been forecast for 2012-13. Whilst a number of budget 
pressures and savings have been identified, Budget Managers will continue to review 
the financial performance of their services to identify further in-year savings to reduce 
the potential of an overspend at the year end. In preparing the budgets for 2013-14 
services have reflected the on-going pressures and savings in their new budget 
estimates.   
 
11. Budget Requirement and Forward Estimates 
 
Outline estimates through to 2017-18 are shown in Appendix B. In compiling these 
figures we have followed the assumptions shown in sections 4 and 7 of this report and 
made specific adjustments to service budgets as and where budget holders have 
advised of a change over the medium term. 
 
It should be recognised that while the authority is able to balance its budget in 2013-
14, significant reductions in expenditure or increases in income will be required from 
2014-15 onwards.  Work has been carried out to challenge budget costs in order to 
reduce both in-year and on-going base budgets without impacting on core service 
levels. However the Council will experience increasing inflationary pressures on core 
budgets and continuing reductions in government grant funding, as well as further 
uncertainty on business rates retention. These factors will require the Council to 
consider policy changes if it is to rise to the challenge and balance its budgets in the 

Page 43



 - 10 - 

short and medium term. A number of potential schemes to generate savings and 
increased income have been explored at officer level. However these ideas and others 
have been examined during budget consultation and beyond to determine Council’s 
appetite to introduce such changes. Areas to consider which currently have a high 
level of spend or will require a greater review to reduce costs and provide services 
differently  

• Consideration of fees and income policies (including Internal review and 
benchmarking exercise) 

• Review of public owned assets including a strategic asset plan review 

• Grants Review  

• Alternative management models for key assets such as South Holland Centre 
and Ayscoughee Hall and gardens  

• Further shared service opportunities 
Spalding Special Expenses are a separate charge to the residents of Spalding for 
services provided in their town and are charged as a supplement to the main council 
tax. The Spalding Special Expenses budget for 2013-14 is estimated at £186,830 
(2012-13 £210,480). The tax base used for 2013-14 is 8,022 (2012-13 9,038). A 
proportion of the Council Tax Support Grant Funding has been allocated to finance 
Spalding Special expenses in order to maintain the current Band D charge at £23.29.  
 
Detailed estimates are shown at Appendix C.  
 

The Council’s 2013-14 budget and forward estimates include amounts for Internal 
Drainage Boards. These are levies charged to the authority over which the council has 
little control and form part of the revenue budget. For 2013-14 £2.185m has been 
included. 
. 
 

12. Fees and Charges 
 
Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue income for the 
Council.  Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income, 
controlling access, responding to competition, funding investment and affecting public 
behaviour. 
 
As part of our overall income strategy we will seek to: 

o Maximise the return from the Council’s asset holdings and continue to attract 
rental income by optimising the usage of office space at Priory Road. 

o Ensure that the yield from fees and charges matches the increase in base 
budget for services that levy fees and charges, otherwise the shortfall will fall 
upon the Council Tax payer 

o Annually review fees and charges for discretionary services 
o Ensure that statutory charges are implemented 
o Monitor compliance with the corporate charging policy and corporate debt policy 
o Set targets for income collection and level of arrears and monitor performance 

against these targets. 
o Treat windfall income as a corporate resource 
o Use enforcement remedies effectively 
o Seek to minimise benefit subsidy losses 
 
 
 

Page 44



 - 11 - 

Fees and charges have been reviewed and updated where necessary. Demand for 
services has also been reviewed and changes in demand have also been reflected in 
the budgeted level of fees and charges income. Appendix H outlines the proposals for 
fees and charges. 
 
In total £3.177m is due from fees and charges in the 2013-14 budget.  The chart below 
shows the main categories of budgeted fee income in 2013-14 (and 2012-13 for 
comparison).  

Fees & Charges Comparison 2012/13 - 2013/14

£0

£100

£200

£300

£400

£500

£600

£700

£800

Car Parking Licensing South Holland

Centre and TIC

Building Control Development 

Control

Markets Land Charges Recycling

Income

Service

E
st

im
a

te
 (

£
'0

0
0

)

Estimate 12/13

Estimate 13/14

 
 

13. Reserves and Balances 
 
In order to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
Council should undertake a review of the level of reserves as part of the annual budget 
preparation.  It is therefore a target of our medium term plan that a review of reserves 
is carried out and reported to Cabinet for consideration.  The review includes analysis 
of current and future risk assessments, including an assessment of risk registers, 
pressures upon services, inflation and interest rates and any underwriting 
arrangements. 
 
Appendix D outlines the position statement on reserve balances.  The proposed 
budget does not require any long term support from reserve balances, however the 
challenging economic environment has required us to undertake a robust sensitivity 
analysis should these events require us to draw on balances.  Whilst it is apparent 
these risks could be financially significant, our reserves are healthy.  Moving forward 
the General Fund balance stands at £1.943m which I believe to be prudent for the 
Council at this time.  
 
We also have a Council Tax reserve with a current balance of £1.764m at 31 March 
2013, taking into account the New Homes Bonus for 2012-13 of £0.528m. This reserve 
can be used to smooth out fluctuations and pressures on the General Fund resulting 
from new Government policies shifting the risk of Business Rate retention and Council 
Tax benefits to local authorities.   

Page 45



 - 12 - 

 

The tables below give a summary of reserve movements: 
 

General Fund 
Working Balance 

13-14 
£’000 

14-15 
£’000 

15-16 
£’000 

16-17 
£’000 

17-18 
£’000 

Brought forward 1,943 1,943 1,943 1,943 1,943 

In - - - - - 

Out - - - - - 

Carried forward 1,943 1,943 1,943 1,943 1,943 

 
General Fund 
Specific Reserves 

13-14 
£’000 

14-15 
£’000 

15-16 
£’000 

16-17 
£’000 

17-18 
£’000 

Brought forward 3,952 4,293 5,109 5,865 7,170 

In  1,007 1,116 1,272 1,459 1,291 

Out (666) (300) (516) (154) (140) 

Carried forward 4,293 5,109 5,865 7,170 8,321 

 

These are the observations from the review of reserves for the 2013-14 budget: 
 

o The general fund balance at 1 April 2012 is £1.943m. This represents 
approximately 15.0% of the Council’s net budget requirement and is adequate 
for the Council’s purposes. 

o Transfers to Reserves include an annual contribution of £136,000 to the 
Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve to assist the Council in maintaining 
its asset base. 

o The Planning Reserve is to be used to deliver the Local Development 
Framework.   

o All New Homes Bonus Scheme grant over the period of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan has been taken into the Council Tax Reserve. 

 

In setting the level of General Balances, consideration has been given to the adequacy 
of financial control, the overall financial position, medium-term financial plans and the 
strategic, operational and financial risks facing the Council. Following this review, it is 
proposed that the General Fund remains set at a minimum level of £1.943m. 
 

14. Risk, Key Issues, Sensitivity and Monitoring 
 
The Council must set a budget which is a realistic statement of its estimated income 
and expenditure for the coming year, based upon information currently available.  The 
Council has a duty to take into account the demand for its services and the effect on 
council tax payers of meeting those demands at varying levels of services. Given the 
good management practices and sound financial and performance monitoring 
delivered in the past, the Council has the platform and expertise to deliver a balanced 
budget.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 - 13 - 

The following table details the key risks and issues identified and how we intend to 
treat them. 
 
 
Risk 

Likeli-
hood 

 
Impact 

 
Action 

Reduced public sector funding 
from Central Government 

High High Keep up to date with developments 
and make prudent budget 
assumptions.  

Low income levels from fees and 
charges 

Medium Medium Revise spending plans 

Continuation of low interest rates High High Market advice and forecasting.  
Mitigation by diversification 

Changes to CTB grant will reduce 
Central government funding and 
will impact Council Tax base. 
Increased caseload adds further 
cost pressure. 

High High Monitor developments & develop local 
scheme to meet reduced Central 
Gov’t funding 

Business rates retention 
proposals leave Council exposed 
to economic downturn 

High High Monitor developments & set aside 
reserves to help with potential initial 
pressures and fluctuations 

Pension fund deficit Medium Medium Strong links with LCC pension fund 
Central Gov’t measures to reduce 
public sector pension deficit 

Additional bad debts as a result 
of economic circumstances 

Medium Medium Pro-active debt management and pre-
pay fee policies 

Increased maintenance costs of 
ageing physical assets 

Medium Medium Asset management plan.  Pro-active 
rather than reactive maintenance 
programme 

Inflation rises by more than 
budgeted projections 

Medium Medium Budget assumptions kept up to date 
with most recent projections 

Localism Bill may create 
additional demands on core 
budget 

Medium Medium Evaluate options for alternative 
service delivery using third sector 
organisations 

Diminishing capital resources will 
mean that borrowing will be 
required at some point in the 
future 

High High Continue to closely monitor the 
Council's Capital Financing 
Requirement and communicate 
remaining balances to Members 
before any decisions are made. 
Utilise S106 funding and revenue 
reserves where appropriate 

Compass Point Business 
Services may be unable to 
deliver an effective service within 
the agreed reduced contract 
price. 

Low Medium Reviewing Service Level Agreements, 
activity levels and service priorities 

Recycling Income contract not 
renewed when it ends in two 
years time. 

Medium High The MTFS assumes this income is 
ongoing. Pro-active management of 
this contract to secure the benefit of 
this income. 

Implications of recently 
announced future State Pension 
changes.  

High Medium Until more details have been 
announced there is no provision in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Page 47



 - 14 - 

15. Consultation, Timetable and Links to Other Strategies 
 
The budget has been out to consultation on the website and invited commentary from 
council tax payers, business rate payers and key stakeholders. It was also considered 
at a meeting of the joint scrutiny panel on 4 December 2012. This committee made 
recommendations to Cabinet which have subsequently been reflected in the budget.  
 
It is important to have clear and agreed timetables for the budget process so that 
statutory requirements are met.  Each year a timetable will be agreed with CMT prior 
to the start of the process (i.e. around May each year). 
 
The Council has adopted a corporate risk management strategy and financial risk 
management is integrated into the Council’s overall management and decision making 
processes. This ensures a robust and well integrated risk management programme, 
which will help the Council to identify and manage key strategic risks facing it, in 
pursuit of its corporate objectives. 
 
A new Performance Framework has been developed to manage delivery of the new 
priorities described in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2011-2015. The annual business 
planning process will run alongside the budget setting process to ensure an integrated 
approach of performance and finance. 
 

16. Capital Strategy and General Fund Capital Estimates 
 
The Council’s Capital Strategy (Appendix F) focuses on the core principles that 
underpin capital investment. 
 
The development of a robust five year capital programme is constrained by the level of 
available resources that the Council has at its disposal.  
 
The existing capital programme (Appendix E) has been amended to reflect revised 
profiling and scheme estimates. A high level summary and associated financing is 
shown below. 
 

Capital Programme by Department 13-14 
£’000 

14-15 
£’000 

15-16 
£’000 

16-17 
£’000 

17-18 
£’000 

Assets and Property 44 - 10 - 100 

Community Development 89 49 39 29 19 

Environmental Services 559 2,112 20 - 170 

Environmental Health 91 - - - - 

Housing 1,087 427 427 427 427 

ICT  67 80 80 80 80 

Total 1,937 2,668 576 536 796 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



 - 15 - 

Financing 13-14 
£’000 

14-15 
£’000 

15-16 
£’000 

16-17 
£’000 

17-18 
£’000 

Borrowing - 1,512 - - 130 

Capital Receipts 25 - - - - 

Capital Grants and Contributions 1,447 887 317 317 317 

Replacement and Refurbishment 
Reserve 

 
120 

 
30 

 
10 

 
- 

 
140 

Organisational Development Reserve 157 - - - - 

Direct Revenue Financing 188 49 39 29 19 

Unfinanced - 190 210 190 190 

Total 1,937 2,668 576 536 796 

 

As part of the 2013-14 budget process Service Managers have submitted a number of 
new schemes to be incorporated into the Capital Programme over the next five years. 
Each scheme is supported by a capital bid form, formulated where appropriate after 
the consideration of options. The cash flow implications of all schemes and the impact 
on revenue need careful consideration before new schemes are incorporated within 
the capital programme. The joint preparation of both a capital and revenue budget 
should ensure a sustainable position for the Council.  
 

Due to the constraints around financing, some schemes have yet to be included in the 
Capital Programme. Appendix E gives a full analysis of schemes categorised as 
‘Essential or Desirable’. The value of Essential Schemes over the five year plan total 
£0.238m, whilst the value of Desirable Schemes, including ‘Broadband Lincolnshire’ is 
£1.393m. 
 
The Council has received confirmation of £1,768,050 grant funding from CLG to 
enhance its refuse and recycling service of which £1,039,000 of this grant has be 
allocated for capital purposes towards the replacement of refuse freighters. The 
current leasing arrangement for refuse vehicles ends in June 2014. An options 
appraisal has been carried out to determine the most economic way of refreshing the 
remainder of the fleet. Sector our Treasury Management advisors have confirmed that 
outright purchase through borrowing is the most cost effective method of financing the 
fleet replacement. Loan repayments have been factored into the Medium Term Plan. 
 

The HRA capital programme was approved at Council on 23 January 2013. 
 

17. Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy 
 
The Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy (Appendix G) pulls 
together the decisions of capital investment, use of reserves, our cash flow and 
revenue budgets.  
 
The Treasury Management Strategy covers two main areas: 

• Capital plans and associated Capital Prudential Indicators 
• Treasury management issues including borrowing and investment strategies 

and associated Treasury Prudential Indicators. 
 
No major changes are proposed to the Treasury Management Policy and Investment 
Strategy which continues the prudent approach to investment in light of the current 
economic climate. 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Draft General Fund Summary

Area 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Related Expenditure 6,089         6,290         6,356         6,583         6,652         6,810         

Premises Related Expenditure 1,071         973            1,038         1,042         1,077         1,061         

Transport Related Expenditure 1,383         1,357         997            818            813            813            

Supplies & Services 2,806         2,975         3,002         3,030         2,925         2,901         

Drainage Board Levies 2,144         2,185         2,241         2,297         2,356         2,403         

Parish Precepts 620            562            649            662            675            688            

Third party Payments 2,996         2,837         2,787         2,737         2,687         2,637         

Transfer Payments 22,358       18,932       19,208       19,388       19,548       19,688       

Depreciation and Impairment Losses 836            697            753            1,050         1,050         1,050         

Grant payment to parishes -                 77              -                 -                 -                 -                 

Income  (27,653)  (24,035)  (24,377)  (24,299)  (24,458)  (24,597) 

Efficiences Required -                 -                  (617)  (1,426)  (2,184)  (2,771) 

COUNCIL SUB-TOTAL 12,650 12,850 12,037 11,882 11,141 10,683

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Expenditure 279            465            79              49              29              159            

Capital Charges Contra Entry  (836)  (882)  (938)  (1,235)  (1,235)  (1,235) 

Minimum Revenue Provision 17              17              16              231            231            230            

Interest on borrowing -                 1                75              75              75              81              

Contributions to Reserves 933            1,007         1,116         1,272         1,459         1,291         

Contributions From Reserves  (453)  (666)  (300)  (516)  (154)  (140) 

NET COST OF SERVICES 12,590 12,792 12,085 11,758 11,546 11,069

Financing

Local Government Settlement  (6,540)  (7,316)  (6,370)  (5,882)  (5,471)  (5,151) 

Transitional Grant Scheme -                  (18) -                 -                 -                 -                 

Efficiency Support for Services in Sparse Areas Grant -                  (16) -                 -                 -                 -                 

New Homes Bonus Grant  (575)  (762)  (949)  (1,136)  (1,323)  (1,155) 

Council Tax Freeze Grant  (234)  (39)  (39) -                 -                 -                 

Spalding Special Expenses  (211)  (187)  (187)  (188)  (188)  (188) 

Town & Parish Councils  (620)  (562)  (649)  (662)  (675)  (688) 

Share of Collection Fund Deficit 47              -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
SOUTH HOLLAND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT 4,457 3,892 3,891 3,890 3,889 3,887

TAX BASE 28,461       24,912       24,962       25,012       25,062       25,112       

SOUTH HOLLAND BAND D COUNCIL TAX 156.60£     156.24£     155.88£     155.52£     155.16£     154.80£     

PERCENTAGE DECREASE 0.25-           0.25-           0.25-           0.25-           0.25-           0.25-           

P
age 51



P
age 52

T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 

APPENDIX C 
 Spalding Special Expenses Account 

 
  2012-13 

Approved 
Budget 

£ 

2013-14 
Budget 

 
£ 

Variance 
 
 
£ 

Spalding Cemetery   54,240 45,800 (8,440) 

Spalding Allotments  6,290 1,860 (4,430) 

Playing Fields at:    

      Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens)  13,990 11,640 (2,350) 

      Halley Stewart  34,050 28,770 (5,280) 

      Thames Road  13,470 13,470 - 

      Fulney Road  10,320 10,320 - 

      Monkshouse Lane  32,540 35,030 2,490 

Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme 8,500 8,500 - 

Christmas Decorations  18,940 13,220     (5,720) 
Contrib. St Mary & St Nicolas Parish 
Church 750 750 - 

Administrative Support 4,640 4,640 - 

Bus Shelter maintenance 370 370 - 

Play Areas 1,000 1,000 - 

Spalding Town Centre Promotion  2,930 2,930 - 

Crime prevention  7,700 7,700 - 

Chairman’s Special Events 750 750 - 

Contribution to Reserves - 23,080 23,080 

Share of council Tax Reform Grant - (23,000) (23,000) 

Total Expenditure 210,480 186,830 (23,650) 

Tax Base 9,038 8,022  

Council Tax Band D Equivalent 23.29 23.29  
Council Tax increase (decrease) 
percentage (0.26) -  
 
Reserve Account    

Balance at 1 April (63,200) (36,810)  

Contribution to Reserve (6,910) (23,080)  
Use of Reserve to Finance in year 
expenditure 33,300 -  

Balance at 31March (36,810) (59,890)  

Earmarked for crime prevention 4,380 4,380  
Agreed minimum balance 5% of 
expenditure for contingency 

 
10,520 9,340  

Available Balance (21,910) (46,170)  

 

Page 53



  
 

SPALDING SPECIAL EXPENSES ACCOUNT- FIVE YEAR FORECAST  
        APPENDIX C 

    

2012-13 
Approved 
Budget 

£ 

   2013-14 
                

Budget 
£ 

2014-15 
Forward 
Estimate  

£ 

2015-16 
Forward 
Estimate  

£ 

2016-17 
Forward 
Estimate  

£ 

2017-18 
Forward 
Estimate  

£ 

Employee Related Expenses 13,790 9,790 9,890 10,140 10,390 10,650 

Premises Related Expenses 174,300 174,010 174,190 174,260 174,310 174,370 

Transport Related Expenses 280 200 200 200 200 200 

Supplies and Services 38,960 22,900 24,790 26,390 27,960 29,480 

Third Party Payments 15,000 6,700 6,600 6,500 6,400 6,300 

Support Services 12,530 6,480 6,490 6,650 6,820 6,990 

Capital Charges 7,000 18,050 18,050 18,050 18,050 18,050 

Contribution to Reserve - 23,080 - - - - 

Efficiencies Required - - (600) (1,150) (1,650) (2,100) 

Total Expenditure 261,860 261,210 239,610 241,040 242,480 243,940 

        

Total Service Income (51,380) (51,380) (52,410) (53,460) (54,530) (55,620) 

        

Council Tax Reform Grant  - (23,000) 
 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

NET COST OF SERVICES 210,480 186,830 187,200 187,580 187,950 188,320 

       
TO BE RAISED FROM COUNCIL 
TAX 210,480 186,810 187,200 187,580 187,950 188,320 

       

TAXBASE 9,038 8,022 8,038 8,054 8,070 8,086 

BAND D COUNCIL TAX £23.29 £23.29 £23.29 £23.29 £23.29 £23.29 

PERCENTAGE INCREASE (0.26%) - - - - - 

 

P
age 54



Appendix D

Reserve 1/4/13 IN OUT 1/4/14 IN OUT 1/4/15 IN OUT 1/4/16 IN OUT 1/4/17 IN OUT 1/4/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Working Balance 1,943      -              -              1,943      -              -              1,943      -              -              1,943      -              -              1,943      -              -              1,943      

Specific Reserves

Affordable Housing 118         -              -              118         -              -              118         -              -              118         -              -              118         -              -              118         

Capital Reserve 162         -              -              162         -              -              162         -              -              162         -              -              162         -              -              162         

Climate Change Reserve 42           -              -              42           -              -              42           -              -              42           -              -              42           -              -              42           

Community Cohesion Reserve 69           -              (25) 44           -              (25) 19           -              (3) 16           -              -              16           -              -              16           

Council Tax Reserve 1,764      762         (15) 2,511      949         -              3,460      1,136      (104) 4,492      1,323      -              5,815      1,155      -              6,970      

Insurance Reserve 237         -              (20) 217         -              (20) 197         -              (20) 177         -              (20) 157         -              -              157         

Organisational Development Reserve 936         86           (300) 722         31           -              753         -              (224) 529         -              -              529         -              -              529         

Planning Reserve 321         -              (75) 246         -              (90) 156         -              (60) 96           -              (46) 50           -              - 50           

Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve 237         136         (231) 142         136         (165) 113         136         (105) 144         136         (88) 192         136         (140) 188         

Section 106 Reserve 19           -              -              19           -              -              19           -              -              19           -              -              19           -              -              19           

Spalding Special Expenses 37           23           -              60           -              -              60           -              -              60           -              -              60           -              -              60           

Emergency Planning Reserve 10           -              -              10           -              -              10           -              -              10           -              -              10           -              -              10           

Total Specific Reserves 3,952      1,007      (666) 4,293      1,116      (300) 5,109 1,272 (516) 5,865 1,459 (154) 7,170 1,291 (140) 8,321

Total General Fund Reserves 5,895      1,007      (666) 6,236      1,116      (300) 7,052      1,272      (516) 7,808      1,459      (154) 9,113      1,291      (140) 10,264    

General Fund Reserve Statement - 2013-14 Draft Budget 

P
age 55



P
age 56

T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 Total
Scheme Description

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Asset and Property

Priory Road - Air Conditioning Council Chamber 20 20
West Marsh Road Depot New Roller Shutters 10 10
Wardentree Lane Industrial Units- re roofing 30 30
Fleet Road, Holbeach Industrial Units- re roofing 30 30
Railway Lane, Sutton Bridge Industrial Units - re roofing 40 40

Footway Lighting 24 24
44 10 100 154

Community Development

Ayscoughfee Museum Storage Heater 30 30
Leisure Contractor Pool & Hall Works 59 49 39 29 19 195

89 49 39 29 19 225

Environmental Services

Resurface Car Park West Street North Long Sutton 30 30
Winfrey Avenue Car Park Resurfacing (alongside Bus Stn) 20 20
Sheep Market Public Conveniences 40 40
Cemetery Extension 50 50
Depot Improvements 40 40
Waste & Recycling Collection Efficiency Hardware 79 79
Refuse Freight 390 2,082 130 2,602

559 2,112 20 170 2,861

Environmental Health

Environmental Health Restructure 91 91

91 91

Housing

Disabled Facilities Grants - Private 352 352 352 352 352 1,760
Decent Home Grants/Loans 75 75 75 75 75 375
Gypsy and Traveller Sites 660 660

1,087 427 427 427 427 2,795
ICT
ICT Strategy (80% General Fund) 80 80 80 80 320
Migration to Exchange 2010 10 10
Microsoft Lync 10 10
Replacement of Sharepoint 2003 (SHINE) 22 22
Uninterruptible Power Supply for ICT Server Room 25 25

67 80 80 80 80 387

GRAND TOTAL 1,937 2,668 576 536 796 6,513

FUNDING
Borrowing 1,512 130 1,642
Capital Receipts 25 25
SCG - DFGs 242 242 242 242 242 1,210
Regional Housing Grant 75 75 75 75 75 375

External Funding 1,130 570 1,700
Replacement & Refurbishment Reserve 120 30 10 140 300
Specific Reserves 157 157
Direct Revenue Funding 188 49 39 29 19 324
Unfinanced 190 210 190 190 780

Total Funding 1,937 2,668 576 536 796 6,513

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2013-14 TO 2017-18

P
age 57



NEW ESSENTIAL SCHEMES

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 Total
Scheme Description

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

New Bids

South Holland Centre - replace of stage floor in auditorium 16 16
Ayscoughfee Garden Aviary and surrounding area 

refurbishment 25 25

SHDC IT - CoCo 25 25
Footway Lighting 24 24 48

Data backup consolidation 35 35
 
Schemes deferred from previous years
Atrium glass safety/solar film 20 20
South Holland Centre - Fire Protection System 15 15
South Holland Centre - Goods Lift and Trolley Lift Renewal 35 35

South Holland Centre - Plastering and rendering to internal 

walls and Stairwells 19 19

GRAND TOTAL 115 99 24 238

NEW BIDS ESSENTIAL SCHEMES 2013-14 TO 2017-18

P
age 58



DESIRABLE SCHEMES

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 Total
Scheme Description

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

New bids

South Holland Centre - Installation of fall arrest system on SHC 

roofs 19 19

Replacement of scanning equipment 20 10 30
Replacement of the remote access server 25 25

Members IT 25 25 50

Provision of additional remote access points at council venues 5 5

Purchase Software Assurance for Microsoft Office 2010 

licences 18 18

Desktop Refresh 25 25

support steelwork around building and belltower 15 15

South Holland Centre - Double Glazing 75 75

South Holland Centre - Rear Roofing Areas 69 69
South Holland Centre - boiler replacement 55 55

Broadband Lincolnshire 600 600

Schemes Deferred from previous years (values and years 

updated)
Ayscoughfee - Resurface Tennis Courts 37 37
SHC - Replacement Glazing on Balcony Balustade 13 13
Gas Wharf Refurbishment 35 35
Replacement of Monkshouse Lane changing rooms 200 200
Integrated Asset Management System 20 20
Halley Stewart Playing Facilities- Changing Rooms(awaiting 
Priory Road - Internal Door Security Swipe 24 24
Castle Complex - Resurfacing Floor 18 18
Castle Complex - Main Hall Boilers 10 10
Castle Complex - Bowling Green Boiler 10 10
Swimming Pool - Retiling Pool 25 25
South Holland Centre - Upgrade of Security/Alarm System 15 15

GRAND TOTAL 466 25 763 139 1,393

DESIRABLE SCHEMES 2013-14 TO 2017-18

P
age 59



P
age 60

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 

In line with best practice South Holland District Council (SHDC) renews its 
Capital Strategy on an annual basis, ensuring the strategy maintains a strong 
and current link to our Corporate Plan.   
 
For the benefit of the reader the strategy has 3 key parts; 

• Introduction 

• Core Strategy 

• Strategic Context  
 
Please have a read of our strategy, we hope it provides you with the 
understanding you seek with regards to how we will manage the increasingly 
limited capital resources at our disposal to deliver our priorities.  
 
The Strategy focuses on core principles that underpin capital investment. It 
gives a position statement with regards to capital expenditure and the 
resources available in terms of funding. The Strategy projects where the 
Council will be in five years’ time and importantly how it intends to get there.  It 
also includes some of the key issues and risks that may impact on the delivery 
of the Capital Investment Strategy, and that the correct governance 
framework is in place to ensure the Strategy is delivered. 
 

2.0 CORE STRATEGY 

 

The core strategy explains how we will manage our capital resources to 
deliver our proposed capital programme.  
 
From 2013-14 to 2017-18 the Council is likely to need investment to advance 
the priorities stated within its Corporate Plan, whilst recognising the reductions 
in funding as a result of the situation in the wider economy. In order to do this 
we will need to deliver efficiencies, seek additional funding, and periodically 
review both the consumption of our capital resources and our stated priorities. 
With fewer resources we may well be unable to maintain assets’ obligatory 
long term maintenance needs. We will manage this through four core 
principles, as set out in Appendix 1.  

3.0 STRATEGIC CONTEXT 

3.1 Strategic Links 

This strategy is a high level summary of SHDC’s approach to capital 
investment in the future of the district. It is driven by the Corporate Plan which 
lays out South Holland’s visions and priorities for the period 2011-2015. The 
Corporate Plan is supported by Service Business Plans. The delivery of our 

Page 61



 2 

priorities is closely monitored in accordance with the council’s performance 
framework.  
 
Capital projects are required to demonstrate a clear link with the Council’s 
corporate objectives.   
 
3.2 Capital Resources 

Balance of Funding 
 
The Council needs to consider how its future capital requirements can be 
financed. It also needs to consider ways of innovation that maximise 
resources, especially given the expected further reductions in available 
funding over the coming years. The Council is required to have regard to the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, to demonstrate that 
proposals are affordable, sustainable and prudent. 

 
A brief description of the resources available to fund capital expenditure is 
given in Appendix 2. 
 
Current Funding Situation 
 
The medium term financial plan details the General Fund Capital Programme 
and financing over the next 5 years, with the HRA capital spending plans 
being contained within its 30 year  Business Plan. 
 
A summary of the combined General Fund and HRA Capital Programme is 
shown below: 
 
 

Resources 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Capital 
Programme 

8,968 9,904 7,456 7,764 8,175 

Finance applied (8,968) (9,714) (7,246) (7,574) (7,985) 

Financing to be 
identified 

- 190 210 190 190 

 
 
The Council has limited resources available for funding future programmes. 
By March 2018, the Capital Receipts reserve will stand at £1.6m.  £100,000 is 
already earmarked for the Housing Company and £365,000 for the Crowland 
Investment. At this stage we have been prudent and have not forecast any 
additional Capital Receipts over the medium term. 
 
S106 monies are available for capital schemes which meet the conditions of 
the individual planning agreements. There will be additional capital schemes 
brought into the Capital Programme which meet the S106 criteria and utilise 
this valuable resource.  
The Council has earmarked revenue reserves, which can be used for 
financing capital investment.  
 

Page 62



 3 

The Council will pro-actively seek out external grants and contributions to 
enhance the infrastructure and environment within the District. 
 
Currently borrowing rates are relatively low and the Council may need to 
consider this form of funding to expand the Capital Programme. 
 
The Council has sufficient resources to maintain its existing housing stock to 
decent homes plus standard and to invest in a programme of new build to 
meet social housing needs in its area,  
 
3.3       Disposals Policy 

 

The Council’s Asset Management Plan details the approach to asset disposal. 
As a principle, the Council releases funding from under utilised assets. Asset 
Management is a key component in the Council’s efficiency strategy. 

 
Generally the Council seeks to achieve ‘best consideration’ in disposing of 
assets, via a sale subject to competition. In certain circumstances it may be 
for less than best consideration, normally where the disposal will contribute to 
the achievement of the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental well being of the whole or part of the area. 
 
3.4 Capital Expenditure, Risks and Opportunities 

 
The key issues facing the Council in relation to Capital expenditure are 
summarised in Appendix 3. 
 
 
3.5      Framework for managing and monitoring performance 
It is important, given the risks surrounding Capital Projects, that the 
appropriate Governance framework is in place hence the following processes 
are in place: 

• The Capital Strategy itself to be presented annually alongside the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy at Council; 

 

• The overall Capital Programme and financing is subject to approval by 
the Cabinet and Council, with due diligence paid to the application of 
scarce capital resources; 

 

• Progress on the Capital Programme and its financing will be reported to 
Cabinet on a quarterly basis; 

 

• An option appraisal methodology for proposed new schemes is used 
which gives each bid a score, ensuring accordance with corporate 
objectives and best use of assets; 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 63



 4 

Appendix 1 
CORE PRINCIPLES 
 

Principle 1 – Managing the impact of investment decisions on our revenue budgets 

We will do this by, 

• Ensuring capital investment decisions do not place unnecessary additional 
pressure on Council Tax or Housing Rents 

• Promoting capital investment which allows “invest to save” outcomes 

Principle 2 – Optimise the availability of capital funding where that funding supports 
the priorities of SHDC 

We will do this by, 

• Disposing of surplus assets and using the proceeds to reinvest in our 
priorities 

 

• Developing effective working relationships with potential funders 
 

• Listening to and supporting effective partnering arrangements 
 

• Having clear policies for the consumption of our reserves 

Principle 3 – Ensure we have effective pre and post project appraisal 

We will do this by, 

• Ensuring a system of competition exists for project approval 
 

• Building into project appraisal recognition of environmental sustainability 
 

• Fully considering project risk 
 

• Carefully considering Value for Money and Efficiency of every project 
 

• Ensuring all projects are supported by an affordable business plan 
 

• Reviewing projects on completion taking account of any corporate learning 
opportunities 

Principle 4 – Performance manage our capital programme 

We will do this by, 

• Integrating the capital programme into our performance management 
framework 

 

• Ensuring our capital schemes use appropriate project management tools 
 

• Clearly defining responsibility for the delivery of the capital programme 
 

• Making sure our assets perform at an optimal level through effective ongoing 
asset management, consistent with levels of investment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



 5 

Appendix 2 
FUNDING SOURCES 
 

Capital Resource Implications with regards to future funding 

Capital Receipt The Council holds a limited number of valuable assets that 
could be transferred into cash.  The Council needs to balance 
cost of maintaining an asset with potential benefits arising 
from disposal, in light of delivering Corporate Objectives, and 
this is therefore politically sensitive. 
 

Section 106 – 
Planning Obligations 

The Council has powers under Section 106 to provide for 
infrastructure and facilities to support the local community 
alongside planning and development projects.  In some cases 
the Council is able to receive cash amounts in lieu of 
developers providing for these requirements directly.   
 

External grants and 
contributions 

The partnership approach to service delivery is a core belief of 
the Council. Through its services, partnership working, 
supportive funding and innovation, the Council will seek to 
attract investment into the District.  The Council is also in 
receipt of Government Grant to support its Disabled Facility 
Grant programme and is heavily reliant upon this to help it 
deliver these mandatory grants for which there is a significant 
demand from its residents. 
 

Revenue 
Contributions 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy and Plan, currently 
assumes an annual (and reducing) revenue contribution in 
support of General Fund capital expenditure. The affordability 
of any revenue contribution needs to be considered in context 
of balancing the General Fund budget.  
 
The 30 year HRA business plan indicates that annual revenue 
surpluses will be generated which will allow the current 
programme for major repairs to housing assets to be fully 
funded and provides the opportunity for further capital 
investment. 
 

Balances and 
Reserves 

SHDC holds both general and specific reserves, earmarked to 
support specific service areas. The value of reserves available 
to support capital expenditure is limited and set to reduce in 
the coming years. 
 
The HRA business plan shows that after funding the capital 
programme, significant balances will accrue. These will 
generate investment income for the HRA. Future investment 
plans may draw on these balances and the business plan will 
need to reflect the impact on the revenue account. This 
includes the Major Repairs Reserve 
 
 
 

Borrowing The Council currently holds £67.456m of Long Term HRA 
debt following the introduction of the HRA Self-Financing 

Page 65



 6 

regime in 2012. The new regime also enables the Council to 
borrow an additional £4.4m to finance capital schemes or 
repay debt at some point in the future. 
 
As non borrowing capital resources diminish, if it is to maintain 
a General Fund capital programme, the Council will need to 
resort to borrowing. Current projections expect this to 
commence during 2014-15 to support the replacement of the 
refuse fleet. 
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy includes a 
borrowing strategy and demonstrates the affordability and 
sustainability of any borrowing on the Medium Term Financial 
Plan, through the application of the Prudential Code.  
 
The Council will ensure its Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) policy reflects the costs of borrowing included in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 7 

Appendix 3 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME ISSUES 

 

Area Issue 

Asset 
Management 
Strategy 

The Council’s Asset Management Strategy supports its 
Capital Strategy. Annual reviews of assets aligned to the 
Strategy may identify surplus assets, which may in turn 
generate capital receipts for future capital investment. 
Expenditure pressures are similarly identified where assets 
need replacing or enhancing. 
The HRA Asset Management Strategy has been developed to 
complement the HRA Business Plan by formalising the 
Council’s approach to asset management in respect of its 
housing stock. 
 

Risk Management Each significant capital project will have its own risk log, 
including political, economic, legal and organisational as well 
as financial risks, which are recorded and managed 
throughout the life of the project. 
Monitoring and control of exempt input tax is essential for the 
council. Where exempt input tax exceeds the 5% de minimus 
limit the whole amount is irrecoverable and will represent an 
additional cost to the council.  Each capital investment will be 
closely reviewed to assess its VAT implications. 
 

Sustainability and 
Carbon & Waste 
Reduction 

A Sustainability Appraisal has been developed from the Local 
Development Framework. Key capital programmes will be 
evaluated against sustainability objectives. 
Where possible, consideration has been made in respect of 
carbon and waste reduction. This includes consideration of 
energy use, transport and fuel use, water use, production and 
disposal. The installation of solar panel at the Priory Road 
offices is an example of investment that will generate income 
to offset our carbon footprint over the next 25 years. 
 

Procurement The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in 
accordance with the Procurement Strategy, ensuring value for 
money, legality and sustainability at all times.  Contract 
standing orders and rules governing the disposal or write off 
of assets are contained in the Constitution which is 
consistently reviewed 
 

Housing There is increasing pressure with regards to the Council’s 
statutory obligation concerning Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFGs). In recent years the Council has supplemented 
government funding with contributions from its own resources 
in order to maintain a manageable waiting list for these grants. 
The sustainability of this needs review in light of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan.  
Investment in the adaptation of its own Council Housing stock 
will also increase as part of the HRA business plan. 
A number of grants and loans are available to home owners 

Page 67



 8 

and tenants in South Holland to continue investment in the 
quality and energy efficiency of the district’s housing stock. 
Although currently supported from past receipts of external 
funding, the affordability of supporting these programmes over 
the longer term needs careful review. 
The Council has established South Holland Homes (a Local 
Housing Company) to develop affordable homes. The 
company’s future business plans will look to innovative 
approach to exploit and maximise resources available to it to 
deliver its aims. 
 

Partnership 
working 

The integration of our capital strategy with those who we seek 
to work with will be necessary to deliver the shared visions we 
hold.  Given the opportunities of the Localism Act and working 
with local communities and the voluntary sector, looking at 
joint asset use will be increasingly important. The 
arrangements with Compass Point Business Services and 
Breckland District Council, as well as the lease of Council 
Offices to several outside bodies are good examples of this.  
The Council will actively seek opportunities to transfer 
community assets to local groups or parish councils. 
 

Invest to save 
schemes and VFM 

Whilst there are revenue implications for investing in capital 
schemes, the Council is keen to invest in areas that result in 
long-term revenue savings and ‘invest to save’ schemes. The 
significant resources applied to capital expenditure require the 
adopted principles of value for money (VFM) to be at the heart 
of our capital strategy and returns on investment are one 
aspect of VFM. 
 

 

Page 68



  APPENDIX G 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 

 

South Holland District Council 
 
2013/14 

Page 69



 2

INDEX 
 

1 INTRODUCTION        3 
 

1.1 Background        3 
1.2 Reporting requirements      3 
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2013/14    4 
1.4 Training        5 
1.5 Treasury management consultants     5 
 

2 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2013/14 – 2015/16  5 
 

2.1 Capital expenditure       5 
2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing 

Requirement)        6 
2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement   7 
2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances    7 
2.5 Affordability prudential indicators     8 
2.6 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream    8 
2.7 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on 

council tax        8 
2.8 Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment 

decisions on housing rent levels     9 
 

3 BORROWING        9 
 

3.1 Current portfolio position      9 
3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity    10 
3.3 Prospects for interest rates      11 
3.4 Borrowing strategy       12 
3.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need    14 
3.6 Debt rescheduling       14 
 

4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY     15 
 

4.1 Investment policy       15 
4.2 Creditworthiness policy       16 
4.3 Country limits        17 
4.4 Investment strategy       17 
4.5 Investment risk benchmarking      18 
4.6 End of year investment report      18 
 

5 APPENDICES        19 
 

1 Interest Rate Forecasts 2013 – 2016     20 
2 Economic Background       21 
3 Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and 

Counterparty Risk Management     25 
4 Approved Countries for Investments     29 
5 Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation    30 
6 The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer  31 

 
 
 

Page 70



 3

1.  Introduction 

1.1 Background 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that 
the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of longer 
term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses.   On occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  
 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks. ” 
 
The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Compass Point Business 
Services (East Coast) Ltd (CPBS) on behalf of the Council. CPBS is 
responsible for the provision of: 
 

• Production of the annual treasury management strategy  

• Production of regular treasury management policy reports 

• Production of treasury management practices 

• Production of budget and budget variations relating to the treasury 
management function 

• Production of management information reports 

• Provision of adequate treasury management resources and skills, and 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function 

• Arrangement of the appointment of external service providers. 
 
1.2 Reporting requirements 
 
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals.  

Page 71



 4

Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this report) - 
The first, and most important report covers: 

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings 
are to be organised) including treasury indicators; and  

• an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

 
A Mid Year Treasury Management Report – This will update members with 
the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as 
necessary, and whether the treasury strategy is meeting the strategy or 
whether any policies require revision. 
 
An Annual Treasury Report – This provides details of a selection of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to 
the estimates within the strategy. 
 
Scrutiny 
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Governance and 
Audit Committee. 
 
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2013/14 
 
The strategy for 2013/14 covers two main areas: 
 
Capital Issues 

• the capital plans and the prudential indicators; 

• the MRP strategy. 

 

Treasury Management Issues 

• the current treasury position; 

• treasury indicators which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the 
Council; 

• prospects for interest rates; 

• the borrowing strategy; 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

• debt rescheduling; 

• the investment strategy; 

• creditworthiness policy; and 

• policy on use of external service providers. 

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, the CLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and the CLG Investment Guidance. 

Page 72



 5

1.4 Training 

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  
Training is arranged as required. 

   

The training needs of CPBS treasury management officers are periodically 
reviewed.  

1.5 Treasury management consultants 

CPBS uses Sector as external treasury management advisors for the Council. 
 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the Council at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon external service providers.  
 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented, and subjected to regular review.  

 

2. The Capital Prudential Indicators 2013/14 – 2015/16 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans are 
reflected in prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ 
overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

2.1 Capital expenditure 

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 
cycle.  Members approve capital expenditure forecasts as part of the annual 
Budget report. 

Capital 
Expenditure 
£’000’s 

2011/12 
Actual 

2012/13 
Latest 

Estimate 
(End Dec) 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

General Fund 1,949 1,829 1,937 2,668 576 

HRA 70,796 4,091 7,031 7,236 6,880 

Total 72,745 5,920 8,968 9,904 7,456 

The following table summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how 
these plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall 
of resources results in a funding need (borrowing).  

Page 73



 6

Capital Expenditure 
£’000’s 

2011/12 
Actual 

2012/13 
Latest 

Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

General Fund 1,949 1,829 1,937 2,668 576 

HRA 70,796 4,091 7,031 7,236 6,880 

Total 72,745 5,920 8,968 9,904 7,456 

Financed by:      

Capital receipts 791 721 144 122 126 

Capital grants & 
contributions 

 
576 

 
1,111 

 
1,447 

 
887 317 

Direct Revenue Funding 
/Use of Reserves 3,922 4,088 7,377 7,193 6,803 

Net financing need for 
the year 

 
67,456 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,702 210 

Other long term liabilities. The above financing need excludes other long term 
liabilities, such as PFI and leasing arrangements which already include 
borrowing instruments.   

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing 
need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid 
for, will increase the CFR.  

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the MRP is a statutory annual 
revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each 
assets life. 

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s 
borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and 
so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The 
Council currently has £284k of such schemes within the CFR. 

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the CFR 
projections, as shown below: 

£’000’s 2011/12 
Actual 

2012/13 
Latest 

Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Capital Financing Requirement 

CFR - non HRA 1,124 945 741 2,406 2,372 

CFR - HRA 70,253 70,174 70,111 70,111 70,111 

Total CFR 71,377 71,119 70,852 72,517 72,483 

Movement in CFR 67,216 (258) (267) 1,665 (34) 

Movement in CFR represented by 

Net financing need for 
the year (above) 

67,456 - - 1,702 210 

Less MRP and other 
financing movements 

 
(240) 

 
(258) 

 
(267) 

 
(37) 

 
(244) 

Movement in CFR 67,216 (258) (267) 1,665 (34) 

Page 74



 7

Note the MRP includes finance lease annual principal payments. 

2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General 
Fund capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the 
minimum revenue provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake 
additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).   

CLG Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve 
an MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are 
provided to councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.   

The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement: 

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will 
be Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be: 

• Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined 
in former CLG regulations (option 1)  

These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need 
(CFR) each year. 

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance 
leases) the MRP policy will be: 

• Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of 
the assets, in accordance with the proposed regulations (this 
option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction) (option 3) 

These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over 
approximately the asset’s life.  

No revenue charge is currently required for the HRA.  However under HRA 
reform the HRA will be required to charge depreciation on its assets, which 
will have a revenue effect.  In order to address any possible adverse impact, 
regulations will allow the Major Repairs Allowance to be used as a proxy for 
depreciation for the first five years. 

Repayments included in annual finance leases are applied as MRP.  

2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances 

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 
capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget 
will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below 
are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated day 
to day cash flow balances.

Page 75



 8

 

 Year End Resources 
£’000’s 

2011/12 
Actual 

2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Fund balances / 
reserves 

7,526 8,975 8,579 8,915 10,098 

Capital receipts 1,457 1,609 1,609 1,609 1,609 

Provisions - - - - - 

Other 2,114 1,959 1,884 1,809 1,734 

Total core funds 11,097 12,543 12,072 12,333 13,441 

Working capital* 3,241 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Under/over borrowing 3,381 3,370 3,360 3,537 3,516 

Expected investments 4,475 7,173 6,712 6,796 7,925 

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be 
higher mid year  
 
2.5 Affordability prudential indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing 
prudential indicators, but within this framework, prudential indicators are 
required to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans. These 
provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 
Council’s overall finances.  As part of the formal governance process, the 
Council approves the following indicators: 

 

2.6 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream. 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other 
long-term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue 
stream. 

 
 2011/12 

Actual 
2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Non-HRA 5.39% 6.38% 5.20% 7.76% 11.11% 

HRA  14.91% 26.40% 26.05% 24.78% 23.69% 

 

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the 
proposals in this budget report. 
 
2.7 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on council tax. 
 
This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with proposed changes to 
the three year capital programme recommended in this budget report compared 
to the Council’s existing approved commitments and current plans.  The 
assumptions are based on the budget, but will invariably include some estimates, 
such as the level of Government support, which are not published over a three 
year period. 

Page 76



 9

 
 2011/12 

Actual 
2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Council tax - 
band D 

 
£0.28 

 
£0.20 

 
£0.14 

 
£0.08 

 
£0.02 

 

2.8 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on housing rent 
levels. 
 
Similar to the council tax calculation, this indicator identifies the trend in the cost of 
proposed changes in the housing capital programme recommended in this budget 
report compared to the Council’s existing commitments and current plans, 
expressed as a discrete impact on weekly rent levels.   
 

 2011/12 
Actual 

2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Weekly housing 
rent levels 

 
(£0.07) 

 
£0.02 

 
£0 

 
£0 

 
£0 

 

This indicator shows the revenue impact on any newly proposed changes, 
although any discrete impact will be constrained by rent controls.   
 
3.   Borrowing 

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service 
activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the the relevant professional 
codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity.  This will 
involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant 
treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the 
annual investment strategy. 
 
3.1 Current portfolio position 

The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2012, with forward 
projections are  summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the 
treasury management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need 
(the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing.  

Page 77



 10

 

£’000’s 2011/12 
Actual 

2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

External Debt 
Debt at 1 April  768 67,996 67,749 67,492 68,980 

Expected change in Debt - - - 1,512 - 
HRA settlement 67,456 - - - - 
Other long-term liabilities 
(OLTL) 

- - - - - 

Expected change in OLTL (228) (247) (257) (24) (13) 

Actual gross debt at 31 
March  

67,996 67,749 67,492 68,980 68,967 

The Capital Financing 
Requirement 

71,377 71,119 70,852 72,517 72,483 

Under / (over) borrowing 3,381 3,370 3,360 3,537 3,516 

 

Within the prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to 
ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One 
of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except 
in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for 2013/14 and the following two financial years. 
This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but 
ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes.       

The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in this budget report.   

 

3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 

The Operational Boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external debt is 
not normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure 
to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt. 

 

Operational boundary 
£’000’s 

2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Debt 71,456 71,456 71,456 71,456 

Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total 72,456 72,456 72,456 72,456 

 

Page 78



 11

The Authorised Limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a 
limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or 
revised by the full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while 
not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the 
longer term.   

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control 
either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, 
although this power has not yet been exercised. 

2. As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the 
following indicators, as shown below: 

Authorised limit £’000’s 2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Debt 74,456 74,456 74,456 74,456 

Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total 75,456 75,456 75,456 75,456 

 

Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA 
self-financing regime.  This limit is currently: 
 

HRA Debt Limit £’000 2012/13 
Estimate 

2013/14 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2015/16 
Estimate 

Total 74,701 74,701 74,701 74,701 

 
3.3. Prospects for interest rates 
 
Sector has been appointed as the Council’s treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Appendix 
1 draws together a number of current City forecasts for short term (Bank Rate) 
and longer fixed interest rates.  The following table gives the Sector central 
view.  
 
Annual 
Average % 

Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates 
(including certainty rate adjustment) 

  5 year 25 year 50 year 

Dec 2012 0.50 1.50 3.70 3.90 

Mar 2013 0.50 1.50 3.80 4.00 

Jun 2013 0.50 1.50 3.80 4.00 

Sep 2013 0.50 1.60 3.80 4.00 

Dec 2013 0.50 1.60 3.80 4.00 

Mar 2014 0.50 1.70 3.90 4.10 

Jun 2014 0.50 1.70 3.90 4.10 

Sep 2014 0.50 1.80 4.00 4.20 

Dec 2014 0.50 2.00 4.10 4.30 

Mar 2015 0.75 2.20 4.30 4.50 

Jun 2015 1.00 2.30 4.40 4.60 

Sep 2015 1.25 2.50 4.60 4.80 

Dec 2015 1.50 2.70 4.80 5.00 

Mar 2016 1.75 2.90 5.00 5.20 

Page 79



 12

The economic recovery in the UK since 2008 has been the worst and slowest 
recovery in recent history, although the economy returned to positive growth in the 
third quarter of 2012.  Growth prospects are weak and consumer spending, the 
usual driving force of recovery, is likely to remain under pressure due to 
consumers focusing on repayment of personal debt, inflation eroding disposable 
income, general malaise about the economy and employment fears. 

The primary drivers of the UK economy are likely to remain external.  40% of UK 
exports go to the Eurozone  so the difficulties in this area are likely to continue to 
hinder  UK growth.  The US, the main world economy, faces similar debt 
problems to the UK, but urgently needs to resolve the fiscal cliff now that the the 
Presidential elections are out of the way.  The resulting US fiscal tightening and 
continuing Eurozone problems will depress UK growth and is likely to see the UK 
deficit reduction plans slip. 

This challenging and uncertain economic outlook has several key treasury 
management implications: 

• The Eurozone sovereign debt difficulties provide a clear indication of  
high counterparty risk.  This continues to suggest the use of higher 
quality counterparties for shorter time periods; 

• Investment returns are likely to remain relatively low during 2013/14 and 
beyond; 

• Borrowing interest rates continue to be attractive and may remain 
relatively low for some time.  The timing of any borrowing will need to be 
monitored carefully; 

• There will remain a cost of carry – any borrowing undertaken that results 
in an increase in investments will incur a revenue loss between 
borrowing costs and investment returns. 

3.4  Borrowing strategy  

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been 
fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances 
and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent 
as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2013/14 treasury operations.  The Section 151 Officer will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances: 

 
• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and 

short term rates, e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation, then long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short 
term borrowing will be considered. 

Page 80



 13

 
• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 

long and short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising 
from a greater than expected increase in world economic activity or a 
sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-
appraised with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst 
interest rates were still relatively cheap. 

 

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next 
available opportunity. 

 
Treasury management limits on activity 

There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these are 
to restrain the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby 
managing risk and reducing the impact of any adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs / improve performance.  The indicators are: 

• Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a 
maximum limit for variable interest rates based upon the debt position 
net of investments; 

• Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the 
previous indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates; 

• Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce 
the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for 
refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.   

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury 
indicators, as shown below: 

 

£,000’s 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Interest rate exposures 

 Upper Upper Upper 

Limits on fixed interest 
rates based on net debt 
 

75,456 75,456 75,456 

Limits on variable 
interest rates based on 
net debt 

8,000 8,000 8,000 

Limits on fixed interest 
rates: 

• Debt only 
• Investments only 
 

 
 

 75,456 
(15,000) 

 
 

 75,456 
(15,000) 

 
 

 75,456 
(15,000) 

Limits on variable 
interest rates 

• Debt only 
• Investments only 

 
 

  8,000 
(15,000) 

 
 

  8,000 
(15,000) 

 
 

  8,000 
(15,000) 

Page 81



 14

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2013/14 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 100% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 100% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 100% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 100% 

10 years and above 0% 100% 

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2013/14 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 10% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 10% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 10% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 10% 

10 years and above 0% 10% 

 

3.5  Policy on borrowing in advance of need  

The Council will not borrow more, than or in advance of its needs, purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow 
in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  
 

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  

3.6 Debt Rescheduling 

As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by 
switching from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will 
need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of 
the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  
 
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:  

• the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 

• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 

• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 
balance of volatility). 

 
Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for 
making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely 
as short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on 
current debt.   
 
All rescheduling will be reported to the Cabinet , at the earliest meeting following 
its action. 

Page 82



 15

4  Annual Investment Strategy  

4.1 Investment policy 

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the 2011 revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance 
Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  The Council’s investment priorities will be security 
first, liquidity second, then return. 
 
In accordance with guidance from the CLG and CIPFA , and in order to minimise 
the risk to investments, the Council has below clearly stipulated the minimum 
acceptable credit quality of counterparties for inclusion on the lending list. The 
creditworthiness methodology used to create the counterparty list fully accounts 
for the ratings, watches and outlooks published by all three ratings agencies with 
a full understanding of what these reflect in the eyes of each agengy. Using the 
Sector ratings service potential counterparty ratings are monitored on a real time 
basis with knowledge of any changes notified electronically as the agencies notify 
modifications. 
 
The Council’s funds are managed by CPBS with reference to a detailed cash flow 
forecast on a daily basis for the current year. Protocols are in place to govern the 
movement of funds within specific limits.  
 
Further, officers recognise that ratings should not be the sole determinant of the 
quality of an institution and that it is important to contiunally assess and monitor 
the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The 
assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To this end the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a 
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” (CDS) and overlay that 
information on top of the credit ratings. This is fully integrated into the credit 
methodology provided by the advisors, Sector in producing its colour codings 
which show the varying degrees of suggested creditworthiness. 
 
Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 
other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the 
most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment 
counterparties. 
 
The aim of the strategy is to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties 
which will also enable diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.   
 
The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation 
of risk. 

Page 83



 16

 
 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in 
Appendix 3 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’iInvestments categories. The 
maximum total investments to any individual financial institution or its parent 
group is £5m. There is also a combined limit of £10m for investments with part-
nationalised banks. 

4.2 Creditworthiness policy  

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Sector.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utlilising credit ratings from the three 
main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit 
ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays:  

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries. 

 
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit 
outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of 
CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which 
indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are 
used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.   The 
Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands:  
 

• Yellow 5 years  
• Purple  2 years 
• Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK 
            Banks) 
• Orange 1 year 
• Red  6 months 
• Green  3 months  
• No colour  not to be used  

 
The Sector creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just 
primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a short term 
rating (Fitch or equivalents) of  short term rating F1, long term rating A-, viability 
ratings of A- and a support rating of 1.  There may be occasions when the 
counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these 
ratings but may still be used.  In these instances consideration will be given to the 
whole range of ratings available, or other topical market information, to support 
their use. 

Page 84



 17

All credit ratings will be monitored daily. CPBS is alerted to changes to ratings of 
all three agencies through its use of the Sector creditworthiness service.  
 

• if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment 
will be withdrawn immediately. 

 

• in addition to the use of credit ratings CPBS will be advised of information 
in movements in CDS spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other 
market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this 
Council will also use market data and market information, information on 
government support for banks and the credit ratings of that supporting 
government. 

4.3 Country limits 

The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the 
United Kingdom or countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA+ from 
Fitch. The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this 
report are shown in Appendix 4.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 

4.4 Investment Strategy 

In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and 
cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for 
investments up to 12 months).    
 
Investment returns expectations.  Bank Rate is forecast to remain unchanged 
at  0.5% before starting to rise from quarter 4 of 2015. Bank Rate forecasts for 
financial year ends (March) are:  
 

• 2012/ 2013  0.50% 

• 2013/ 2014  0.50% 

• 2014/ 2015  0.75% 

• 2015/ 2016  1.75% 

 

There are downside risks to these forecasts (i.e. start of increases in Bank Rate is 
delayed even further) if economic growth remains weaker for longer than 
expected.  However, should the pace of growth pick up more sharply than 
expected there could be upside risk, particularly if Bank of England inflation 
forecasts for two years ahead exceed the Bank of England’s 2% target rate. 
 

Page 85



 18

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to  three months during each financial year for the next four 
years are as follows:  
 

2012/13  0.50%   
2013/14  0.50%   
2014/15  0.60%   

    2015/16  1.50% 
 

Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 364 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end. 

 
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury 
indicator and limit, as shown below: 
 

Maximum principal sums invested > 364 days 

£’000’s 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Principal sums invested > 
364 days 

£m 
2,000 

£m 
2,000 

£m 
2,000 

 

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business 
reserve instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated 
deposits (overnight to three months) in order to benefit from the compounding of 
interest.   
 

4.5 Investment Risk Benchmarking 

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks in this area, as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are 
adequate to monitor the current and trend position, and amend the 
operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change.   

4.6   End of year investment report 

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as 
part of its Annual Treasury Report.  

Page 86



 19

5   APPENDICES 
 

1. Interest rate forecasts 

2. Economic background 

3. Treasury Management Practice 1 – Credit and Counterparty Risk 
Management 

4. Approved countries for investments 

5. Treasury management scheme of delegation 

6. The treasury management role of the Section 151 Officer 

 
 
 

Page 87



  APPENDIX G 

Sector's Interest Rate View

Now Dec-12 M ar-13 Jun-13 Sep-13 Dec-13 M ar-14 Jun-14 Sep-14 Dec-14 M ar-15 Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 M ar-16

Sector's Bank Rate View 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.50% 1.75%

3 M onth LIBID 0.40% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 0.60% 0.70% 0.80% 1.10% 1.40% 1.70% 1.90%

6 M onth LIBID 0.56% 0.70% 0.70% 0.70% 0.70% 0.70% 0.70% 0.80% 0.90% 1.00% 1.10% 1.30% 1.60% 1.90% 2.20%

12 M onth LIBID 0.92% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.10% 1.10% 1.20% 1.30% 1.30% 1.50% 1.80% 2.10% 2.40%

5yr PW LB Rate 1.66% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.70% 1.80% 2.00% 2.20% 2.30% 2.50% 2.70% 2.90%

10yr PW LB Rate 2.64% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.50% 3.70% 3.90%

25yr PW LB Rate 3.88% 3.70% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.90% 3.90% 4.00% 4.10% 4.30% 4.40% 4.60% 4.80% 5.00%

50yr PW LB Rate 4.04% 3.90% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.10% 4.10% 4.20% 4.30% 4.50% 4.60% 4.80% 5.00% 5.20%

Bank Rate

Sector's View 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.50% 1.75%

UBS 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% - - - - -

Capital Econom ics 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% - - - - -

5yr PW LB Rate

Sector's View 1.66% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.70% 1.80% 2.00% 2.20% 2.30% 2.50% 2.70% 2.90%

UBS 1.66% - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Capital Econom ics 1.66% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.50% 1.60% - - - - -

10yr PW LB Rate

Sector's View 2.64% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.50% 3.70% 3.90%

UBS 2.64% 2.80% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% - - - - -

Capital Econom ics 2.64% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% - - - - -

25yr PW LB Rate

Sector's View 3.88% 3.70% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.90% 3.90% 4.00% 4.10% 4.30% 4.40% 4.60% 4.80% 5.00%

UBS 3.88% 4.00% 4.20% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% - - - - -

Capital Econom ics 3.88% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% - - - - -

50yr PW LB Rate

Sector's View 4.04% 3.90% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.10% 4.10% 4.20% 4.30% 4.50% 4.60% 4.80% 5.00% 5.20%

UBS 4.04% 4.10% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% - - - - -

Capital Econom ics 4.04% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% - - - - -

APPENDIX 1 - Interest Rate Forecast 2013 - 2016 as at 3
rd

 December 2012 

 

P
age 88



 

APPENDIX 2 - Economic Background 
 
Global economy 

The Eurozone debt crisis has continued to cast a pall over the world economy 
and has depressed growth in most countries.  This has impacted the UK 
economy which is unlikely to grow significantly in 2012 and is creating a major 
headwind for recovery in 2013. Quarter 2 of 2012 was the third quarter of 
contraction in the economy; this recession is the worst and slowest recovery 
of any of the five recessions since 1930.  A return to growth @ 1% in quarter 
3 in unlikely to prove anything more than a washing out of the dip in the 
previous quarter before a return to weak, or even negative, growth in quarter 
4. 

 

The Eurozone sovereign debt crisis has abated somewhat following the 
ECB’s pledge to buy unlimited amounts of bonds of countries which ask for a 
bailout.  The immediate target for this statement was Spain which continues to 
prevaricate on making such a request and so surrendering its national 
sovereignty to IMF supervision.  However, the situation in Greece is heading 
towards a crunch point as the Eurozone imminently faces up to having to relax 
the time frame for Greece reducing its total debt level below 120% of GDP 
and providing yet more financial support to enable it to do that.   Many 
commentators still view a Greek exit from the Euro as inevitable as total debt 
now looks likely to reach 190% of GDP i.e. unsustainably high.    The question 
remains as to how much damage a Greek exit would do and whether 
contagion would spread to cause Portugal and Ireland to also leave the Euro, 
though the longer a Greek exit is delayed, the less are likely to be the 
repercussions beyond Greece on other countries and on EU banks.   

Sentiment in financial markets has improved considerably since this ECB 
action and recent Eurozone renewed commitment to support Greece and to 
keep the Eurozone intact.  However, the foundations to this “solution” to the 
Eurozone debt crisis are still weak and events could easily conspire to put this 
into reverse. 

 

The US economy has only been able to manage weak growth in 2012 
despite huge efforts by the Federal Reserve to stimulate the economy by 
liberal amounts of quantitative easing (QE) combined with a commitment to a 
continuation of ultra low interest rates into 2015.   Unemployment levels have 
been slowly reducing but against a background of a fall in the numbers of 
those available for work. The fiscal cliff facing the President at the start of 
2013 has been a major dampener discouraging business from spending on 
investment and increasing employment more significantly in case there is a 
sharp contraction in the economy in the pipeline.  However, the housing 
market does look as if it has, at long last, reached the bottom and house 
prices are now on the up.   

Hopes for a broad based recovery have, therefore, focused on the emerging 
markets. However, there are increasing concerns over flashing warning signs 
in various parts of the Chinese economy that indicate it may be heading for a 
hard landing rather than a gradual slow down.  

Page 89



 

 

22

UK economy 

The Government’s austerity measures, aimed at getting the public sector 
deficit into order over the next four years, now look as if they will fail to 
achieve their objectives within the original planned timeframe.  Achieving this 
target is dependent on the UK economy growing at a reasonable pace but 
recession in the Eurozone, our biggest trading partner, has depressed growth 
whilst tax receipts have not kept pace with additional welfare benefit 
payments.  It will be important for the Government to retain investor 
confidence in UK gilts so there is little room for it to change course other than 
to move back the timeframe.   

Currently, the UK is enjoying a major financial benefit from some of the lowest 
sovereign borrowing costs in the world as the UK is seen as a safe haven 
from Eurozone debt.  There is, though, little evidence that consumer 
confidence levels are recovering nor that the manufacturing sector is picking 
up.  On the positive side, growth in the services sector has rebounded in Q3 
and banks have made huge progress since 2008 in shrinking their balance 
sheets to more manageable levels and also in reducing their dependency on 
wholesale funding.  However, availability of credit remains tight in the 
economy and the Funding for Lending scheme, which started in August 2012, 
has not yet had the time to make a significant impact. Finally, the housing 
market remains tepid and the outlook is for house prices to be little changed 
for a prolonged period.  

Economic Growth. Economic growth has basically flat lined since the 
election of 2010 and, worryingly, the economic forecasts for 2012 and beyond 
were revised substantially lower in the Bank of England Inflation quarterly 
report for August 2012 and were then further lowered in the November 
Report. Quantitative Easing (QE) was increased again by £50bn in July 2012 
to a total of £375bn.  Many forecasters are expecting the MPC to vote for a 
further round of QE to stimulate economic activity regardless of any near-term 
optimism. The announcement in November 2012 that £35bn will be 
transferred from the Bank of England’s Asset Purchase Facility to the 
Treasury (representing coupon payments to the Bank by the Treasury on gilts 
held by the Bank) is also effectively a further addition of QE. 

Unemployment. The Government’s austerity strategy has resulted in a 
substantial reduction in employment in the public sector.  Despite this, total 
employment has increased to the highest level for four years as over one 
million jobs have been created in the private sector in the last two years.   

Inflation and Bank Rate.  Inflation has fallen sharply during 2012 from a peak 
of 5.2% in September 2011 to 2.2% in September 2012. However, inflation 
increased back to 2.7% in October though it is expected to fall back to reach 
the 2% target level within the two year horizon. 

AAA rating. The UK continues to enjoy an AAA sovereign rating.  However, 
the credit rating agencies will be carefully monitoring the rate of growth in the 
economy as a disappointing performance in that area could lead to a major 
derailment of the plans to contain the growth in the total amount of 
Government debt over the next few years.  Moody’s has stated that it will 
review the UK’s Aaa rating at the start of 2013. 

Page 90



 

 

23

Sector’s forward view  

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. There does, however, appear to be consensus among 
analysts that the economy remains relatively fragile and whilst there is still a 
broad range of views as to potential performance, expectations have all been 
downgraded during 2012. Key areas of uncertainty include: 

• the potential for the Eurozone to withdraw support for Greece at some 
point if the costs of such support escalate were to become prohibitive, 
so causing a worsening of the Eurozone debt crisis and heightened risk 
of the breakdown of the bloc or even of the currency itself;  

• inter government agreement on how to deal with the overall Eurozone 
debt crisis could fragment; the impact of the Eurozone crisis on 
financial markets and the banking sector;  

• the impact of the Government’s austerity plan on confidence and 
growth and the need to rebalance the economy from services to 
manufactured goods;  

• the under-performance of the UK economy which could undermine the 
Government’s policies that have been based upon levels of growth that 
are unlikely to be achieved;  

• the risk  of the UK’s main trading partners, in particular the EU and US, 
falling into recession ;  

• stimulus packages failing to stimulate growth;  

• elections due in Germany in 2013;  

• potential for protectionism i.e. an escalation of the currency war / trade 
dispute between the US and China.  

• the potential for action to curtail the Iranian nuclear programme 

• the situation in Syria deteriorating and impacting other countries in the 
Middle East 

 
The focus of so many consumers, corporates and banks on reducing their 
borrowings, rather than spending, will continue to act as a major headwind to 
a return to robust growth in western economies.   
 
Given the weak outlook for economic growth, Sector sees the prospects for 
any changes in Bank Rate before 2015 as very limited.  There is potential for 
the start of Bank Rate increases to be even further delayed if growth 
disappoints. 

Page 91



 

 

24

Sector believes that the longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to 
rise due to the high volume of gilt issuance in the UK, and the high volume of 
debt issuance in other major western countries.  The interest rate forecast in 
this report represents a balance of downside and upside risks.  The downside 
risks have already been commented on.  However, there are specific 
identifiable upside risks as follows to PWLB rates and gilt yields, and 
especially to longer term rates and yields: - 

• UK inflation being significantly higher than in the wider EU and US 
causing an increase in the inflation premium in gilt yields 

• Reversal of QE; this could initially be allowing gilts held by the Bank to 
mature without reinvesting in new purchases,  followed later by outright 
sale of gilts currently held 

• Reversal of Sterling’s safe haven status on an improvement in financial 
stresses in the Eurozone 

• Investors reverse de-risking by moving money from government bonds 
into shares in anticipation of a return to worldwide economic growth 

• The possibility of a UK credit rating downgrade (Moody’s has stated 
that it will review the UK’s Aaa rating at the start of 2013). 

 
 

Page 92



 

 

25

APPENDIX 3 - Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and 
Counterparty Risk Management Specified and Non-Specified Investments 
and Limits 
 

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, 
with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality 
criteria where applicable. 
 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not 
meet the Specified Investment criteria.  A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate in non-specified investment 
 
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the 
institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the 
above categories. 
 
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment 
vehicles are: 
 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
 

 
 Minimum ‘High’ 
Credit Criteria 

Use 

Debt Management Agency Deposit 
Facility 

UK Sovereign Rating In-house 

Term deposits – local authorities   N/A In-house 

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies  

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house 

Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating In-house 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

UK Sovereign Rating In-house 

Money market funds 
Long-term AAA 

volatility rating MR1+ 

In-house (£5m limit 

for cash flow 

purposes) 

 
Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies  

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max of total 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

UK  part nationalised 
banks 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-
house  

£10m 1 year 

Banks part nationalised 
by AAA or AA+ 
sovereign rating 
countries – non UK 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-
house  

£5m 1 year 

 

Page 93



 

 

26

NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
 
Non-Specified Investments have a greater potential risk and we have set a limit to 
the overall amount that may be held in such an investment at any time in the year. 
We have set our maximum aggregate exposure in non-specified investments at 
no more than the amount of core cash the authority expects over the next 3 years 
(£5 Million). This is to allow greater benefits in following interest rate cycles, and 
provide opportunities should preferable market conditions arise. 
 
1. Maturities of Any Period 
 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max %  of 
non-specified 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits 

Sovereign rating  
of AAA or  AA+ 
and minimum 
colour of green on 
our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-house  100% 1 year 

Collateralised deposit  
(see note 1) 

UK  Sovereign 
rating or note 1 

In-house  100% 1 year 

Certificates of deposit 
issued by banks and 
building societies covered 
by UK  Government  
(explicit) guarantee 

UK  Sovereign 
rating and 
minimum colour of 
green on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house 100% 1 year 

UK Government Gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating 

In-house 
buy and 
hold 

100% 2 year 

Sovereign bond issues 
(other than the UK govt) 

AAA 
In-house 
buy and 
hold 

100% 2 year 

Bond issuance issued by a 
financial institution which is 
explicitly guaranteed by  
the UK Government  
(refers solely to GEFCO - 
Guaranteed Export 
Finance Corporation) 

UK sovereign 
rating 

In-house 
buy and 
hold 

100% 2 year 

 

Page 94



 

 

27

 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies 
(OEICs): - 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max %  of 
non-specified 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

 1. Government Liquidity 
         Funds 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house  100% 5 years 

 2. Enhanced cash funds 
Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house 100% 5 years 

 3. Gilt Funds 
Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house 100% 5 years 

 

Note 1. as collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local 
authority LOBOs, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated 
investment as it is equivalent to  lending to a local authority. 
 
If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period should 
not exceed one year in aggregate.   
 
N.B. buy and hold may also include sale at a financial year end and repurchase 
the following day in order to accommodate the requirements of SORP. 

Page 95



 

 

28

 
 
2.  Maturities in excess of 1 year 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Max %  of 
non-
specified 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

Term deposits – UK local 
authorities  

N/A 
In-
house 

100% 5 year 

Term deposits – banks and 
building societies  

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA+ and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-
house 

100% 5 year 

Certificates of deposit issued 
by banks and building 
societies covered by UK  
Government  (explicit) 
guarantee 

UK sovereign rating 
and minimum colour 
of orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-
house  

100% 5 year 

Certificates of deposit issued 
by banks and building 
societies  

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA+ and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-
house  

100% 5 year 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

AAA 

In-
house 
buy 
and 
hold 

100% 5 year 

 
Whilst these are maximum limits, under normal circumstances the Section 151 
Officer will ensure lower limits are maintained. The higher limits are required to 
allow flexibility in the movement of funds if a particular issue or circumstance 
arose e.g. global banking crisis. 
 
The maximum total investment to any individual financial institution or its parent 
group is £5m.  
 
Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ 
from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by 
this Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue 
impact, which may arise from these differences, we will review the accounting 
implications of new transactions before they are undertaken. 
 

Page 96



 

 

29

APPENDIX 4 - Approved countries for investments 

 

AAA                      

• Australia 

• Canada 

• Denmark 

• Finland 

• Germany 

• Luxembourg 

• Netherlands 

• Norway 

• Singapore 

• Sweden 

• Switzerland 

• U.K. 

 

AA+ 

• France 

• Hong Kong  

• U.S.A. 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

 

30

APPENDIX 5 - Treasury management scheme of delegation 

 

(i) Full council 

• receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 
practices and activities 

• approval of annual strategy. 

• approval of / amendments to the council’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices 

• budget consideration and approval 

• approval of the division of responsibilities as contained in the Financial 
Regulations 

• approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment in accordance with the contract and procurement procedure 
rules 

 

(ii) Cabinet and Governance & Audit Committee 

• reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

• receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations 

 

 

SCRUTINY AND MONITORING 
  
Council delegates the scrutiny and monitoring of the Treasury Management 
function to the Governance and Audit Committee.  As a minimum they will receive 
a Mid Term Treasury report on investment issues and performance. Training will 
be made available for members of the Governance and Audit Committee to 
ensure they have the necessary skills to undertake this role. Recommendations 
will be reported to Cabinet. 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee will also have access to professional and 
independent advice and support as required in order to undertake this role. 

 

Page 98



 

 

31

APPENDIX 6 - The treasury management role of the Section 151 Officer and 
deputy 

The Section 151 Officer responsibilities are as follows: 
 
� managing the Treasury Management function 
 

� recommending treasury management policies and practice for 
approval, reviewing the same regularly and monitoring compliance 

� Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills 
are maintained by CPBS 

� Receiving and reviewing management information reports from 
CPBS 

� Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 
 

� Informing Elected members 
 

� Submitting regular treasury management reports to Members 
� Reviewing the treasury management strategy 
� Maintaining an effective internal audit of treasury management and 

liaising with external audit. 
 
Compass Point Business Services (CPBS) is responsible for the 
provision of: 
 

• treasury management strategy statements and practices for approval  

• regular treasury management policy reports 

• budget and budget variations 

• management information reports 

• adequate treasury management resources and skills, and effective division 
of responsibilities within the treasury management function, and; 

• arranging the appointment of external treasury management advisors.  

 

Where the use of particular instant access accounts, notice accounts and 
money market funds has been approved by the Section 151 Officer, CPBS 
treasury officers have delegated authority to withdraw and deposit funds within 
the agreed limits contained in this strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



 
APPENDIX H  

FEES AND CHARGES - Proposals 2013-14 
 
Environmental Health 
 
Activity Policy Proposal  

Licensing In general RPI + 1%, but 
with exceptions. 
Policy set by Licensing 
Committee 

No change to fees  

Food Safety/ Health and 
Safety Training 

SHDC has the 
responsibility of educating 
the community on food, 
health & safety matters. 
Fees set to cover costs and 
take into account course 
demand and competitors 
fees 
 

No changes to fees proposed. 

Pollution Control Statutory fees are set 
not to make a profit, but to 
ensure businesses are 
operating legally 

Charges in line with policy 

Food Safety Discretionary fees to cover 
costs. Voluntary  
surrender and export fees 
are statutory. Statutory fees 
are set not to make a profit, 
but to ensure businesses 
are operating legally 
 

Charges in line with policy 

 
Environmental Services  
 
Activity Policy Proposal  

Cemetery Fees 
(Spalding Special 
Expenses) 

Fees are reviewed annually 
and set by the Council, 
taking into account the 
sensitive nature of this 
service 
 

Fees increased by 5% for 2012-
13. No change for 2013-14. 

Allotments (Spalding 
Special Expenses) 

Charges to be in line with 
those charged in the 
neighbouring area 
 

No change from 2012-13 to 
2013-14. 

Provision of Markets Fees to be in-line with 
those charged in the 
neighbouring area 
 

No change from 2012-13 to 
2013-14. 

Car Parking Charges Service to breakeven over 
a 4 year period and make a 

No change from 2012-13 to 
2013-14. 

Page 101



contribution to the 
Replacement and 
Refurbishment Reserve 
 

Bus Departure Charges Charges to bus operators 
only 

Fee levels have been increased 
from 17p to 24p per departure. 

Excess Charges Fees to be set as a 
deterrent 
 

No change to fees proposed, in 
line with car park charges. 

Garden Waste Sacks Maximise income without 
encouraging fly tipping 

No change to fees. 

Bulky Waste Maximise income without 
encouraging fly tipping 

Increased from £15 to £25 for 
up to 3 items 

Charges for street 
scene fines 

Charges for fines listed for 
each offence   

Set to cover costs. Includes 
dropping of litter 

 
Community Development 
 
Activity Policy Proposal  

Ayscoughfee Gardens 
(Tennis, Putting and Bowls) 
(Spalding Special Expenses) 
 

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually 

Fees and charges will be 
increased by 5% for 2013-14. 
 

Ayscoughfee Hall Museum To cover costs and 
match competitor prices 

No change to fees for 2013-14. 
 

South Holland Centre 5% reduction in annual 
deficit (excluding capital 
charges and support 
services) 

It is proposed most ticket 
prices stay the same for 2013-
14, after benchmarking with 
nearest competitors. New day 
delegate and package rates 
applicable for 2013-14. 

Halley Stewart Playing Field 
(Spalding Special Expenses) 

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually 

Fees and charges will be 
increased by 10% for 2013-14. 

Castle Field To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually 

Fees and charges were 
increased for 2012-13 by 3.5%, 
in line with the other pitch 
charge increases. No change 
for 2013-14. 

Monks House Playing Field 
(Spalding Special Expenses) 

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually 

Fees and charges were for 
increased in 2012-13 by 3.5%, 
in line with the other pitch 
charge increases. No change 
for 2013-14. 

Castle Sports Complex and 
Swimming Pool 

Review annually with 
contractor  

Fees and charges have been 
reviewed per activity, by the 
contractor. They propose the 
majority are increased between 
2% and 4% 
 

Page 102



 
Assets and Property 
 

  

Activity Policy Proposal 

Industrial Units A phased  approach to 
increasing fees and 
charges was approved, 
in two lots of 3 years, 
spreading over 6 years 
in total 

No change for 2013-14. In line 
with market competitors  

 
Planning and Building Control 
 
Activity Policy Proposal 

Land Charges Charge in line with 
competitors 

No change to fees and 
charges 

Building Control 
 
 
 

Charge based on 
hourly rate to 
reflect the actual 
cost of each 
project. 

Charges based on hourly rate, 
to cover costs incurred by the 
Council. 
 

High Hedges Charge set by 
ourselves 

Proposal to maintain our 
charge to encourage 
submissions. 
 

Building Control Consultancy These are set by 
us, at a cost per 
project as per the 
new fee 
regulations which 
are based on 
hourly rates, as per 
CIPFA guidance. 
Charges based on 
amount per m2, in 
line with the market 
rate activity 
 

Fees are set by SHDC. 
Service to maintain charges 
based on a market rate. 
 

 
Housing 
 
Activity Policy Proposal 

General Fund Housing 
Rents 

 Increase in rents in line with 
Government Guidelines  

 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services 

and the Assistant Director Finance (S151) 
 
To:    Cabinet - 19 February 2013 
 
(Author:  Mark Finch, Assistant Director Finance (s151)) 
 
Subject: Financial Performance Quarter 3 2012-13 
 
Purpose: To provide information on the forecast full year financial position 

of the Council as at 31 December 2012 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This report provides information on the forecast full year financial performance 

for three separate areas: 
 

• Revenue Budget incorporating Spalding Special Expenses and the 
Housing Revenue Account 
o Forecast revenue outturn for 2012-13 
o Significant variances 
o Un-allocated reserve levels 

 

• Capital 
o Forecast actuals against budget 
o Five Year Capital Programme and Financing 

 

• Treasury 
o Security of investments 
o Liquidity levels 
o Yield levels 
o Borrowing 

 
 
 

Recommendations to full Council: 
 
a) That the use of the Council Tax Reserve to finance the £40,000 contribution 

in respect of Spalding Flower Parade be approved;  
 
b) That the transfer of Waste Incentive Scheme revenue funding of £329,153 to 

the Organisational Development Reserve in advance of spend in 2013-14 be 
approved; and 

 
c) That the Disabled Facilities grant budget is increased by £78,147 

 

Agenda Item 8.

Page 105



 

2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 The Cabinet may: 
 

• Approve the recommendations detailed within this report; or 

• Not approve the recommendations detailed within this report 
  
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall finances of the 

Council and to make the best use of resources available.  
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES 
 
4.1 To ensure that Members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial 

position and to act on any budget amendments required to reflect the latest 
forecasts of spend and income. 
 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 Carbon Footprint and Environmental Issues implications have been 

considered and in the opinion of the report writer, there are none 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 Constitution and Legal implications have been considered and in the opinion 

of the report writer, there are none 
 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 Contracts implications have been considered and in the opinion of the report 

writer, there are none 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.4.1 Crime and Disorder implications have been considered and in the opinion of 

the report writer, there are none 
 
5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights 
 
5.5.1 Equality and Diversity and Human Rights implications have been considered 

and in the opinion of the report writer, there are none 
 
5.6 Financial  
 
5.6.1 The report is of a financial nature and financial details are included within the 

appendix. 
 

Page 106



 

5.7 Risk Management  
 
5.7.1 Risks are highlighted within the appendix. 
 
5.8 Staffing 
 
5.8.1 Staffing implications have been considered and in the opinion of the report 

writer, there are none 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation 
 
5.9.1 Stakeholders/Consultation implications have been considered and in the 

opinion of the report writer, there are none 
  
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 Budget implications affect all wards. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers:- None 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name/Post:  Mark Finch – Assistant Director, Finance 
Telephone Number: 01775 761161  
Email:  mark.finch@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: 
No  
 
Exempt Decision: 
No 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
 
Appendix 1 – Financial Report for the quarter ending 31 December 2012  

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



   Appendix 1 

 1

South Holland District Council  

 

Financial Report for the quarter ending 31 December 2012  
 
This report has three sections 
 

• Section 1 – Revenue budget 

• Section 2 – Capital budget 

• Section 3 – Treasury update 
 

Section 1 - Revenue Budget 
 

General Fund 
 

The table below details the full year forecasted outturn against the approved budget for 
2012-13.  This is calculated by taking actuals up to 31 December 2012, together with 
assessments made by service managers about future levels of expenditure and income 
and incorporating identified budget cost pressures and savings. Significant variances to the 
approved budget are detailed in Table 2. 
 

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn   

 

Actual spend to date against budget = 74.2%  

Forecast outturn against budget = 101.1% (or a £126,000 overspend) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Place & 
Governance 

Commissioning 
 

Other budget 
items (table 

3) 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 
Approved Budget 
Requirement – March 
Council 3,470 6,603 1,824 11,897 

 
Budget Virements approved 
to 31 December 2012  (88) 88 - - 

 
Significant Variances 
identified to date (table 2) 156 41 (71) 126 

 
Estimated Full Year Outturn 3,538 6,732 1,753 12,023 

Page 109



   Appendix 1 

 2

Table 2 – Significant Variances identified to date 
 
 
Service/Budget 
Description 

(Under)/ 
Over 
Spend 
£’000 

 
 
Comments 

Building Control Fees 70 
Impact of current economic conditions leading to 
reductions in building control fees being received. 

Planning Application 
Fees 50 

Impact of current economic conditions leading to 
reductions in fees being received. 

Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax 
Administration Grant 53 Lower grant awarded than anticipated. 

Non Tenancy 
Services (40) 

The Supported Housing service currently provides low 
level support, visits and a lifeline service to vulnerable 
residents. The majority of this work is carried out under 
contract to Lincolnshire County Council under the 
Supporting People Programme for residents in receipt of a 
means tested benefit. However, significant additional 
income is also received from tenants and residents not in 
receipt of a means tested benefit. Included within this 
income, is revenue from residents who are not tenants of 
South Holland, and this income could be viewed as 
general fund rather than Housing revenue account.  

Planning 
Compensation 50 

Provision set aside in General Fund to pay compensation 
for planning complaint as approved by Council on 25th July 
2012 

Spalding Flower 
Parade 40 

District Council contribution towards Spalding Flower 
Parade funded from the Council Tax Reserve. 

Grounds 
Maintenance – 
Housing Estates (60) 

The budget review identified that grounds maintenance 
costs attributable to HRA land has been charged to the 
General Fund. Correcting this situation will result in a 
saving to the General Fund and an increase in HRA 
expenditure. 

ICT 70 

This includes additional costs relating to GCSx connection 
and the LCC wide area network. Also application support 
and maintenance costs are still being incurred for the 
Chris21 and Wisdom DMS systems which were originally 
planned to be decommissioned in 11/12.   

Movement in other 
budget items  (71) As detailed in table 3 

 (36) 
Other budget variances including savings in utility costs 
and operational savings within Environmental Services. 

 126  

 
The Council has received confirmation of £1,768,050 Waste Incentive Scheme grant 
funding from CLG, to enhance its refuse and recycling service. It is anticipated that 
capital expenditure will account for £1,039,000 of this grant with the remainder being 
allocated to revenue. The first instalment of £329,153 has been received and approval is 
sought to transfer into the Organisational Development Reserve in advance of spend. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



   Appendix 1 

 3

Table 3 – Other Budget Items 
 

Other budget items are shown in the table below: 
 

 Approved 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Estimated 
Full Year 
Outturn 
£’000 

Parish Precepts 620 620 
Internal Drainage Board Levies 2,144 2,144 
Investment Income (50) (135) 
Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue 
Resources 

 
279 

 
533 

Non – Ringfenced Government Grant   
          Council Tax Freeze Grant (117) (117) 
          Local Services Support Grant  (48) (78) 
          New Homes Bonus Scheme - (528) 
Statutory Accounting Adjustments* (908) (908) 
Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 358 901 
Transfers from Earmarked Reserves (454) (679) 

 
Total 

 
1,824 

 
1,753 

* includes the reversal of depreciation charges for Council owned assets which are 
included within the directorate structure and the corporate provision for the repayment of 
debt. 
 
Table 4 – Unallocated Reserve Balances 
 
The table below shows the unallocated reserve balance as at 31 December. The balances 
within the table are funds that can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, 
for example, one-off invest to save projects and to meet expenditure arising from 
unexpected events. 
 
General Fund Reserves 
 
 

Unallocated 
Amount 
Available  
£’000 

Affordable Housing Reserve 118 
Capital Reserve 161 
Climate Change Reserve 42 
Council Tax Reserve* 1,749 
Emergency Planning Reserve 10 
Insurance Reserve 237 
Organisational Development Reserve 449 
Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve 237 

Sub total  3,003 

Cumulative Working Balance 1,817 
 
Total General Fund unallocated reserves 4,820 

 
* Includes cumulative New Homes Bonus Grant of £930,000. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



   Appendix 1 

 4

Actions/Decisions 
 
To approve the use of the Council Tax Reserve to finance the £40,000 contribution in 
respect of Spalding Flower Parade.  
 
To approve the transfer of Waste Incentive Scheme revenue funding of £329,153 to the 
Organisational Development Reserve in advance of spend in 2013-14. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



   Appendix 1 

 5

Spalding Special Expenses 
 
Expenditure relating to Spalding Special expenses forms part of the Council’s General 
Fund budget and is included in Table 1 above. The approved budget for 2012/13 is 
£210,480 and is funded by Spalding Taxpayers, the Band D charge for the financial year 
being £23.29. A review of service net expenditure has been undertaken for quarter 3 by 
Service Managers and the projected outturn for 2012-13 shown below. 
 

Table 5 – Forecast Revenue Outturn   
 

 Estimated 
Full Year 
Outturn 

£ 

 
Spalding Cemetery 

 
49,980 

Spalding Allotments 7,600 
Playing Fields at:  
      Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens) 11,640 
      Halley Stewart 28,170 
      Thames Road 13,470 
      Fulney Road 10,320 
      Monkshouse Lane 34,240 
Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme 8,500 
Christmas Decorations  18,910 
Contribution St Marys and St Nicolas Parish Church 750 
Administrative Support 4,640 
Bus Shelter Maintenance 370 
Play Areas 1,000 
Spalding Town Centre Promotion 4,230 
Installation of granite boulders 1,300 
Crime Prevention 7,700 
Chairman’s Special Events 750 
 
Total Net Expenditure 

 
203,570 

 
The Council maintains an earmarked reserve relating to Spalding Special Expenses. Any 
unspent budget at the year end is transferred into the reserve which can then used to meet 
expenditure arising from unexpected events and to cover any future deficit which may 
arise.  
 

The current unallocated reserve balance is £23,000, after earmarking funds for Crime 
Prevention and setting aside a contingency equal to 5% of current expenditure.  Any 
variations from the budget or use of the Spalding Special Expenses Reserve recommended 
from the Spalding Town Forum would need to be ratified by Cabinet/Council.  
 
Actions/Decisions 
 
No actions or decisions to be made for quarter 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



   Appendix 1 

 6

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
A report to Cabinet on 28 February 2012 sought approval for the 30 year Business Plan 
and included the impact of the final HRA Self Financing Debt Settlement.  Within the report 
the HRA surplus for the year was estimated at £1.833m.  In arriving at the surplus the 
interest rate assumption made for borrowing £67.456m at the end of March was 3.21% pa. 
This gave rise to an estimated interest liability of £2.165m. The actual rate of interest 
applicable at the date that the loan was taken was 3.48%. This has resulted in an increased 
annual liability of £182,000.  
 
The table below details the full year forecasted outturn against the approved budget for 2012-13.   
 
Table 6 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 
Table 7 – Unallocated HRA Revenue Reserves 
 
The table below shows the unallocated reserve balance as at 31 December. The balances 
within the table are funds that can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, 
for example, one- off invest to save projects and to meet expenditure arising from 
unexpected events. 
 
Housing Revenue Account Reserves 
 
 

Unallocated 
Amount 

Available  
£’000  

Insurance Reserve 200 

Sub total  200 

  
Cumulative Working Balance  2,880 
 
Total HRA unallocated reserves 3,080 

 
Actions/Decisions 
 
No actions or decisions to be made for quarter 3. 

  2012-13 
£’000 

Comments 

Approved HRA surplus  (1,833)  

 
Significant Variances identified 
to date  

 

Increase in Interest Payable 
182 

Amendment to original budget to reflect 
actual rate of interest of 3.48% payable on 
Self Financing Debt. 

Capital Expenditure Financed 
from  
Revenue Resources 626 

 
Amended to reflect latest capital 
programme. Includes financing of additional 
expenditure on central heating schemes. 

Non Tenancy Services – Net 
Income accounted for within the 
General Fund 40 

 
 
 

Ground Maintenance Costs  60 
 

Estimated Outturn (925) 
 

Page 114



   Appendix 1 

 7

Section 2 – Capital Budget  
 

This section reports on: 
 

• Progress against 2012-13 approved capital programme 

• Risks, issues and key messages 
 
Table 8 – Progress against 2012-13 approved capital programme 
 

 

Original 
Budget  
2012-13 
March 
Council 

 
Latest 

Approved 
Budget  
2012-13 

Actuals plus 
commitments 
@ 31-12-2012 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2012-13 

Forecast 
(under)/over 

spend 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Commissioning           

Priory Road 12 137 10 104 (33) 

Assets and Property - 
Other 24 76               - 45 (31) 

ICT schemes 199 344 43 146 (198) 

Housing – Gypsy and 
Traveller Sites - 790 130 130 (660) 

Private Sector Housing  391 534 184 612                 78   

Environmental Services  - 62 - 12 (50) 

Environmental Health - 121 1 30 (91) 

Planning  - 139 94 139 - 

Total Commissioning 626 2,203 462 1,218 
                     

(985) 

Place and Governance           

Community Development 
- South Holland Centre - 87 43 85 (2) 

Community Development 
- Leisure 69 166 68 166 - 

Economic Development  - 360 294 360                     -   

Total Place and 
Governance 69 613 405 611 (2) 

HRA           

Public Sector Housing           

Improvements & 
Enhancements of Council 
Dwellings 2,999 3,704 1,810 3,575 

                                 
(129)           

Improvements to Waste 
Water Treatments 60 105 2 105 - 

Other - 18 - - (18) 

Disabled Adaptations - 
Public 375 375 100 375  - 

ICT schemes 50 86 11 36 (50) 

Total HRA 3,484 4,288 1,923 4,091 (197) 

 
TOTAL 4,179 7,104 2,790 5,920 (1,184) 

 

 
 
 

Page 115



   Appendix 1 

 8

This is to be resourced by: 
 
Source of Financing Latest 

Approved 
£’000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
£’000 

Use of Capital Receipts 875 721 

Capital Grants and Contributions 1,712 1,111 

Direct Revenue Funding/Use of Reserves 4,517 4,088 

 
Total 

 
 7,104 

   
  5,920 

 
The original budget was approved at Council on 7 March 2012. Further amendments have 
subsequently been made to the budget reflecting previous year incomplete schemes 
brought forward as well as Central Heating schemes brought into 2012-13 from the 2013-
14 programme. 
 

Spend against budget  39.3% 
 
Forecast outturn  £5,920,000 or 83.3% 
 
The capital programme for 2012-13 shows an estimated underspend of £1,184,000. 
 
ICT projects are forecast to underspend by £248,000 for 2012-13. Microsoft licence 
upgrades of £90,000 have now been incorporated into the revenue budget from 2013-14 at 
a value of £25,000 per annum as these will now be funded through an operating lease from 
existing revenue resources. A general provision for service driven ICT projects was built 
into this years capital programme and the schemes identified as a priority for investment 
mean that £158,000 is likely to remain at the year end. The Council in conjunction with 
CPBS are to undertake a review of its ICT Strategy and future capital investment 
requirements, with all new schemes being put forward for approval during 2013-14. 
 
During the third quarter the Council received an additional grant of £78,147 towards funding 
Disabled Facilities adaptations. This will be used to finance additional expenditure in the 
current year.  
 
As part of the review of current year progress and the preparation of future years capital 
programmes, slippage on the following General Fund Schemes have been incorporated 
into the 2013-14 capital programme. 

• Priory Road Air Conditioning Council Chamber       £20,000 

• Spalding Cemetery extension                                  £50,000 

• Environmental Health Restructure                           £91,000 

• Gypsy and Traveller sites                                      £660,000 
 
Also, following discussions with the service manager the integrated Asset Management 
system has been removed for the 2012-13 capital programme and included as a Desirable 
scheme to be considered in future years. 
 
Actions/Decisions 
 
That Cabinet recommend to Council that the Disabled Facilities grant budget is increased 
by £78,147. 

 
 

Page 116



   Appendix 1 

 9

Section 3 – Treasury 

 
This section reports on: 

• Security, Liquidity and Yield of Investment portfolio 

• Current Debt Position 

• Risks, issues and key messages 
 

Security 
 

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as 
Officers believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are 
adequate to monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to 
manage risk as conditions change. 
 
The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Sector which provides a 
maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating calculated for each 
financial institution. All investments held by the Council are within the recommended 
maximum duration. 
 

Counterparty Exposure

CCLA Money Market Fund

Lloyds TSB Bank

National Westminster

Nationwide BS

Barclays Bank PLC

 
 
Liquidity 
 
Cash 
The Council’s average level of deposits for the first three quarters of the financial year was 
£14.1m. As at 31 December the Council had £5.95m instant access cash available to meet 
cash flow requirements.  The table below shows the amounts held in relation to the 
remaining period to maturity.  

Because of the limited 
number of counterparties 
available, deposits are 

currently spread amongst 
four institutions. 

 
To achieve further 

diversification an account 
has been opened with the 
CCLA Money Market 

Fund during the financial 
year. 

Page 117



   Appendix 1 

 10

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

£

C
a
ll

<
 1

M
o
n

th

1
-3

M
o

n
th

s

3
-6

M
o

n
th

s

6
-9

M
o

n
th

s

9
-1

2

M
o

n
th

s

>
 1

2

M
o

n
th

s

Maturity Period

Maturity Structure of Investments

 

 
Yield 
 
Budgeted Interest 2012-13   £65,000 
Forecast Interest as at Q3 2012-13 £48,750 
Actual Interest as at Q3 2012-13  £124,754 
Estimated Outturn 2012-13  £160,000* 
 
*Interest is apportioned between the General Fund and  
Housing Revenue Account 
 
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.62% 
Actual Yield as at Q3 2012-13    1.18% 
 
External Borrowing 
 
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%.  
 
No further borrowing has been undertaken during the quarter. 
 
Actions/Decisions required 
 

o No actions or decisions to be made for quarter 3. 
 

Placing deposits with part-
nationalised UK financial 
institutions for up to 1 year 
around 3% has enabled the 

Council to achieve returns well 
in excess of the target yield. 

 

The percentage 
maturity 

structure of 
investments is: 

 
Call = 37% 

< 1 mth = 6% 

< 3 mths = 33% 

< 6 mths = 12%  

< 9 mths = 0% 

< 12 mths = 12%l 

> 12 mths = Nil 

Page 118



 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services  
   and the Assistant Director Finance (S151) 
 
To:    Cabinet - 19 February 2013  
 
(Author:  Mark Woolerton – Recovery & Support Supervisor) 
 
Subject: Write Offs 
 
Purpose: To recommend writing off irrecoverable debts  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This report reviews debts over £1,050 which require Cabinet approval for write off.  A 

summary of these debts is shown in the table below and totals £63,972.51. 
 
1.2 The need to write off usually arises due to the debtor being untraceable, insolvent or 

ceased trading with no assets. Where possible all methods of recovery are pursued 
before making the decision to write off. This can include internal recovery action, use 
of debt collection agents and procedures through the Courts. 

 
1.3 A summary of debts requiring approval for write off is given in the following table. 
 
 

Value Council 
Tax 
 
£ 

Non 
Domestic 
Rates 
£ 

Sundry 
Debtors 

 
£ 

Former 
Tenant 
Arrears 

£ 

Housing 
Benefit 

Overpayment 
£ 

Total 
 
 
£ 

Below 

£1500 

 841.35    841.35 

£1500 - 

£1,999 

1,565.42 3,176.15    4,741.57 

Over 

£2,000 

9,062.08 38,026.28 11,301.23   58,389.59 

 

Total 10,627.50 42,043.78 11,301.23   63,972.51 

 
           Details of the individual debts are shown in the Appendices as listed below: 
 

• Appendix A - Council Tax 

• Appendix B - Non Domestic Rates 

• Appendix C - Sundry Debtors 
 

Recommendation:  
 
That the amounts identified in this report are approved for write off. 
 

Agenda Item 9.

Page 119



 

1.4 The amount that we set aside for the provision for bad debts on Non Domestic Rates 
forms part of the calculation of the amount payable to the national pool so the cost is 
not met by our council tax payers.  For all other debts, the approved write off will be 
set against the existing bad debt provision. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To approve the recommendation 
 
2.2 To approve the recommendation with amendments 
 
2.3 Not to approve the recommendation 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 All recovery methods available have been considered and where appropriate pursued 

before making the decision to write off.   
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES 
 
4.1 Not applicable 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues 
 
5.1      The possible implications have been considered and there are none. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2      This report has been written in line with the Constitution. 
 
5.2.2 This report is confidential as it includes exempt information as described in Schedule 

12A Part 1, Paragraph 1 (information relating to any individual) and Paragraph 3 
(information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)). 

 
5.2.3 The anticipated benefits of publishing information identifying individuals does not 

outweigh the risks of a data protection breach and it is therefore considered that the 
information should remain exempt from publication and public meetings. 

 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none. 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.4.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none. 
 
 

Page 120



 

5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights 
 
5.5.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none. 
 
5.6 Financial  
 
5.6.1 The proposed write offs will be written off against the existing write off provision.  
 
5.7 Risk Management  
 
5.7.1 The possible existence of actual or potential implications have been considered and 

there are none. 
 
5.8 Staffing 
 
5.8.1 The possible existence of actual or potential implications have been considered and 

there are none. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers:- None 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Lead Contact Officer 
 
Name/Post:    Mark Woolerton, Recovery & Support Supervisor 
Telephone Number:  01775 764631 
Email:    mwoolerton@sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision   No 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
 
(These appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to 
any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual) and 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)  
 
Appendix A - Council Tax 
Appendix B - Non Domestic Rates 
Appendix C – Sundry Debtors 
 
 

Page 121



Page 122

This page is intentionally left blank



A
genda Item

 12.

P
age 123

B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

of the Local G
overnm

ent A
ct 1972.

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 130

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	6.a) Final Report of the Community Transport Task Group
	Community Transport Task Group Final Report - Appendix

	6.b) Interim Report of the Effectiveness of CCTV in South Holland Task Group
	Appendix - Interim Report

	7. General Fund Estimates, Financial Medium Term Plan, Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy Statement
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H

	8. Quarterly Finance Report (Quarter 3)
	Appendix 1 - Q3 Financial Performance report

	9. Write Offs
	12. Write Offs

